

### Shahsharif Mohammadshafi Shaikh

### TRIBOLOGICAL PERFORMANCE OF GD-DLC AND EU-DLC COATINGS IN THE PRESENCE OF IONIC LIQUID ADDITIVES UNDER DIFFERENT TEMPERATURES

#### VOLUME 1

Dissertation under the Joint European Master's Degree in Surface Tribology and Interfaces guided by Doctor Fabio Emanuel De Sousa Ferreira presented to the Department of Mechanical Engineering of the Faculty of Science and Technology of the University of Coimbra.

July 2023



### Tribological Performance of Gd-DLC and Eu-DLC Coatings in the **Presence of Ionic Liquid Additives Under Different Temperatures**

Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of European Joint European Master in Tribology of Surfaces and Interfaces.

### Desempenho tribológico de revestimentos de Gd-DLC e Eu-DLC na presença de aditivos à base de líquidos iônicos sob diferentes temperaturas

#### Author

#### SHAHSHARIF MOHAMMADSHAFI SHAIKH

#### Advisor

Doctor Fábio Emanuel De Sousa Ferreira University of Coimbra

Jury

President **Professor Doctor Bruno Trindade** 

Vowel **Doctor Todor Vuchkov** 

**Doctor Fábio Emanuel De Sousa Ferreira** Advisor







Joint European Master in Tribology of Surfaces and Interfaces

Coimbra, July 2023

## Dedication

I dedicate this piece of my work to:

To our Prophet Muhammad (PBUH), whose teachings continue to inspire humanity. His message of seeking knowledge and sharing it with others resonates deeply within me. As in AL-Tirmidhi (107) it is beautifully stated, "Seek knowledge and teach it to other people."

To my beloved mother and supportive family, whose unwavering prayers, guidance, and blessings have been instrumental in shaping my path.

Additionally, I find it fitting to reflect on the profound significance of the word "IQRA," which marks the very first revelation of the Quran to Prophet Muhammad (peace be upon him). The divine commandment to "read" signifies the importance of seeking knowledge and engaging in continuous learning. It serves as a reminder of the power and transformative potential that knowledge holds. In dedicating this work, I strive to embody the spirit of "IQRA" and contribute to the pursuit of knowledge in our society.

## Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to all those who have contributed to the successful completion of my Joint European Master's Degree in Tribology of Surfaces and Interfaces. This journey would not have been possible without the support, guidance, and encouragement of numerous individuals and institutions.

First and foremost, I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to **Dr. Fabio Emanuel De Sousa Ferreira** for his unwavering kindness and invaluable assistance throughout this entire process. Dr. Ferreira not only provided me with the opportunity to work in an enriching academic environment but also served as an exceptional mentor, offering insightful advice and guidance during the course of my Master's thesis project.

I am also indebted to the following individuals for their invaluable support and assistance: **Prof. Dr. Bruno Trindade, Prof. Dr. Albano Cavaleiro, Prof. Dr. Amilcar Ramalho, Dr. Luis Vilhena, Dr. Joao Carlos, Dr. Todor Vuchkov and Takeru Omiya**. Their willingness to lend a helping hand and their remarkable kindness have been a constant source of inspiration. Whether it was providing guidance, sharing resources, or offering encouragement, they played an integral role in shaping the outcome of this thesis.

Furthermore, I would like to extend my gratitude to the TRIBOS consortium for granting me the opportunity to pursue an extraordinary Master's degree abroad and for allowing me to expand my horizons and enhance my experiences over the past two years. I am particularly grateful to **Prof. Dr. Mitjan Kalin, Prof. Dr. Ardian Morina, Prof. Dr. Nazanin Emami, and Prof. Dr. Bruno Trindade** for their continuous support and guidance throughout my academic journey.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the countless individuals, including my family and friends, who provided me with emotional support and encouragement throughout this challenging endeavor. Their unwavering belief in my abilities has been a constant source of motivation, and I am truly grateful for their presence in my life.

In conclusion, the successful completion of this Master's thesis is a testament to the collaborative efforts, unwavering support, and invaluable contributions of the aforementioned individuals and institutions. Their guidance and assistance have left an indelible mark on my academic and personal development, and for that, I am deeply grateful.

Thank you all sincerely.

## Abstract

This Master's research thesis investigates the tribological performance of diamond-like carbon (DLC) coatings doped with rare earth metals (Europium and Gadolinium) as well as pure DLC lubricated with ionic liquid additives (trihexyltetradecylphosphonium bis(2-ethylhexyl) phosphate  $\{[P_{66614}][DEHP]\}$ 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium diethyl phosphate {[EMIM][DEP]}) in and Polyalphaolefin 8 (PAO8). The study aims to examine the effect of temperature on the interaction between the coatings and additives by conducting tribological experiments using a block-on-disk setup at temperatures of 60 °C, 80 °C and 100 °C. The primary objective is to evaluate the performance of doped DLC coatings compared to pure DLC coatings with ionic liquid additives in the lubricant in boundary lubrication conditions at various high working temperature environments. The experiments reveal that doped DLC coatings with ionic liquid additives exhibit superior tribological performance compared to pure DLC coatings. The rare earth metal dopants play a positive role in the formation of a tribofilm on the surface of the coatings as it interacts with ionic liquids, resulting in a lower coefficient of friction (CoF). Temperature influences the performance of the coatings and additives. The CoF increases with temperature for pure DLC coatings, while for doped DLC coatings it was significantly less. These findings highlight the influence of temperature on the tribological behaviour of DLC coatings. Overall, this study contributes valuable insights into the impact of rare earth metal dopants and ionic liquid additives on the tribological performance of DLC coatings under different temperature conditions. The results demonstrate the potential of utilizing doped DLC coatings with ionic liquid additives as an effective approach to enhance the performance of mechanical systems.

**Keywords:** Ionic liquids; diamond-like carbon coatings; doped-DLC; tribology; temperature.

### Resumo

Esta dissertação de mestrado investiga o desempenho tribológico de revestimentos de carbono tipo diamante (DLC) dopados com metais de terras raras (Európio e Gadolínio), bem como DLC puro lubrificado com aditivos líquidos iônicos (trihexyltetradecylphosphonium bis(2-ethylhexyl) phosphate 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium  $\{[P_{66614}][DEHP]\}$ е diethyl phosphate {[EMIM][DEP]}) em Polialfaolefina 8 (PAO8). O estudo visa examinar o efeito da temperatura na interação entre os revestimentos e aditivos por meio da realização de testes tribológicos usando uma configuração bloco sobre disco a temperaturas de 60 °C, 80 °C e 100 °C. O objetivo principal é avaliar o desempenho de revestimentos DLC dopados em comparação com revestimentos DLC puros na presença de aditivos à base de líquidos iônicos no lubrificante em condições de lubrificação limite em vários ambientes de alta temperatura de trabalho. Os testes revelam que revestimentos DLC dopados na presença de aditivos à base de líquidos iônicos exibem desempenho tribológico superior em comparação com revestimentos DLC puros. Os dopantes de metais de terras raras desempenham um papel positivo na formação de um tribofilme na superfície dos revestimentos, pois interagem com líquidos iônicos, resultando em um menor coeficiente de atrito (CoF). A temperatura influencia o desempenho dos revestimentos e aditivos. O CoF aumenta com a temperatura para revestimentos DLC puros, enquanto para revestimentos DLC dopados foi significativamente menor. Essas descobertas destacam a influência da temperatura no comportamento tribológico dos revestimentos DLC. No geral, este estudo contribui com informações valiosas sobre o impacto de dopantes de metais de terras raras e aditivos à base de líquidos iônicos no desempenho tribológico de revestimentos DLC sob diferentes condições de temperatura. Os resultados demonstram o potencial da utilização de revestimentos DLC dopados na presença de aditivos à base de líquidos iônicos como uma abordagem eficaz para melhorar o desempenho de sistemas mecânicos.

**Palavras-chave:** Líquidos iônicos; revestimentos de carbono tipo diamante; DLC dopado; tribologia; temperatura.



### 

# Table of Contents

Dedication	3
Acknowledgments	4
Abstract	5
Resumo	6
Graphical Abstract	7
List of Figures	.10
List of Tables	.11
List of Abbreviations	.12
1 Introduction	.14
1.1 Aim of the Study	.18
2 State of the Art	.19
2.1 Thin Film Coating	.20
2.1.1 DLC Coatings	.20
2.1.1.1 Doping of DLC Coatings	.21
2.2 Regular Liquid Lubricants	.23
2.2.1 Functions of lubricants	.23
2.2.2 Synthetic Lubricants	.24
2.2.3 Ionic Liquids	.24
2.2.3.1 Methods of production	.25
2.2.3.2 Characteristics	.26
2.2.3.2.1 Cationic structure and Anionic structure	.27
2.2.3.2.2 Thermal stability	.27
2.2.3.2.3 Corrosion behavior of ionic liquids	.28
2.2.3.2.4 Hygroscopicity	.29
2.3 Tribology	.29
2.3.1 Tribology of DLCs	.30
2.3.1.1 Tribology of doped diamond-like carbon coatings and ionic liquids	.31
2.3.2 Tribology of Ionic Liquids	.33
2.3.2.1 Ionic Liquids as a neat lubricant	.34
2.3.2.2 Ionic liquids as an additive	.34
2.3.2.3 Tribochemical reaction properties	.35
2.3.2.4 Ionic liquids as extreme temperature lubricants	.36
3 Materials and Methods	.36

	3.1	Specimens	36
	3.2	Lubricants	37
	3.3	Tribological Tests	38
4	Resu	Ilts and Discussion	43
	4.1	DLC Coating Analysis	43
	4.2	Viscosity of lubricants	45
	4.3	Mechanical characterization (Hardness and Young's Modulus)	47
	4.4	Tribological Test (Influence of the Temperature)	48
4.4.1 Temperature of 60 °C		49	
4.4. 4.4.		2 Temperature of 80 °C	53
		3 Temperature of 100 °C	57
	4.5	Wear Mechanism Characterization	62
5	Cone	clusions	68
Re	eference	es	70

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Doping elements achieving improved properties in DLC [113]	.22
Figure 2. Classification of lubricants [117]	.23
Figure 3. 1) Pure DLC, 2) 1.7%-Gd DLC, 3) 2.3%-Gd DLC, 4) 1.7%-Eu DLC, and 5) 2.4%-Eu DLC 37	
Figure 4. Schematic diagram of block-on-ring friction tribometer	.39
Figure 5. Block on ring test setup with all instruments	.40
Figure 6. Examination of DLC coating structure under SEM.: (a) 2.3% Gd-DLC; (b) 2.4% E DLC; (c) 1.7% Gd-DLC; (d) 1.7% Eu-DLC; (e) Pure DLC	:u- 44
Figure 7. Examination of cross-sectional morphology of DLC coating under SEM	.45
Figure 8. Dynamic viscosity/temperature graph of PAO 8, PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P66614][DEHP]} and PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]}	46
Figure 9. Dynamic viscosity/temperature of all three lubricants	.46
Figure 10. Hardness of coatings	.48
Figure 11. Young's Modulus of coatings	.48
Figure 12. PAO 8 at 60 °C	.50
Figure 13. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P66614][DEHP]} at 60 °C	.51
Figure 14. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} at 60 °C	.52
Figure 15. PAO 8 at 80 °C	.54
Figure 16. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P66614][DEHP]} at 80 °C	.55
Figure 17. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} at 80 °C	.56
Figure 18. PAO 8 at 100 °C	.58
Figure 19. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P66614][DEHP]} at 100 °C	.59
Figure 20. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} at 100 °C	.60
Figure 21. EDS of 2.3% Gd-DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P66614][DEHP]} and SEM image of the same in top right corner	of 63
Figure 22. Element mapping of the Gd-DLC thin film paired with PAO 8 + 1 wt. % {[P66614][DEHP]} : (a) C; (b) O; (c) Cr; (d) Gd and (e) P	63
Figure 23. Scratch/Wear pattern on 2.4% Eu DLC coating with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]}	64
Figure 24. EDS image of oxides on the 2.4% Eu-DLC surface PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P66614][DEHP]}	65
Figure 25. EDS X Ray map of oxides on the 2.4% Eu-DLC surface PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P66614][DEHP]} surface: (a) C; (b) O; (c) Eu; (d) Cr; and (e) P	65
Figure 26. EDS image of oxides on the 2.3% Gd-DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]}	ł 65
Figure 27. EDS X Ray map of oxides on the 2.3% Gd-DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} surface: (a) C; (b) Cr; (c) P; (d) O; and (e) Gd	.66

#### List of Tables

Table 1. Conditions for block on ring tribological test	.43
Table 2. Tallian parameter and film thickness at 60 oC	.49
Table 3. Tallian parameter and film thickness at 80 oC	.53
Table 4. Tallian parameter and film thickness at 100 °C	.57

## List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
DLC	Diamond Like Carbon
IL	Ionic Liquid
Gd	Gadolinium
Eu	Europium
CoF	Coefficient of friction
PAO8	Polyalphaolefin 8
[P <sub>66614</sub> ] [DEHP]	Trihexyltetradecylphosphonium Bis(2-Ethylhexyl) Phosphate
[EMIM][DEP]	1-Ethyl-3-Methylimidazolium Diethylphosphate
DEP	Diethylphosphate
AFM	Atomic Force Microscope
GLC	Graphite Like-Carbon
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
PVD	Physical Vapor Deposition
PECVD	Plasma-Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition
HiPIMS	High-power impulse magnetron sputtering
во	Base Oil
TGA	Thermogravimetric Analysis
$h_0$	Film Thickness
R'	Reduced Radius
$\eta_0$	Lubricant Viscosity at Atmospheric Pressure
W	Applied Load
Ε'	Reduced Young's Modulus
U	Sliding Speed
k	Ellipticity Parameter
$\eta_p$	lubricant viscosity at pressure p

λ	Tallian Parameter
σΑ	Surface roughness of body A
$\sigma_{ m B}$	Surface roughness of body B
α	pressure-viscosity coefficient
CNT	Carbon nano tube
DIW	Deionized water
BF4	tetrafluoroborate
EDS	Electron dispersive spectroscopy
GNP	Graphene nanoplatelets
LST	Laser surface texturing
LVM	Low vacuum melting
MA	Mechanical alloying
MWCNT	Multiwall carbon nanotube
PCA	Process control agent
PE	Polyethylene
SCF	Short carbon fibres
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
TEM	Transmission Electron Microscopy
SS	Stainless steel
XRD	X-Ray diffraction

## 1 Introduction

Climate change has raised concerns about the impact of fossil fuels on the environment, leading to a search for sustainable alternatives [1]. Frictional losses account for a significant portion of energy wastage, with around one-third of total energy production lost to friction, wear, and tear of components [2]. Reduction of frictional losses can result in decreased energy consumption, increased productivity, and monetary savings. Diamond-Like-Carbon (DLC) coatings, known for their superior tribological and mechanical properties, such as high wear resistance, hardness, and low coefficient of friction (CoF), have emerged as a promising solution [3–5].

DLC coatings are a type of self-lubricating coatings [6–9]. These coatings can be classified as diamond-like carbon (DLC) or graphite-like carbon (GLC) from the carbon fractions of sp<sup>2</sup> and sp<sup>3</sup> in coatings. DLC coatings predominantly contain the sp<sup>3</sup> carbon fraction, while graphite-like carbon coatings have a dominant sp<sup>2</sup> fraction [10]. DLC coatings are governed by the ISO 20523:2017 which was established by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) to provide guidelines for classifying, designating, and naming carbon-based films. These films may contain other elements such as hydrogen or metals. Metal carbides can be included as constituents in the films. ISO 20523:2017 only applies to films where carbon is the main component if additional elements are present [11].

The push to minimize the use of lubricants in mechanical systems poses a challenge for engineers to operate under boundary lubrication conditions. DLC coatings have been found to exhibit the lower CoF, and their chemical structure can be tuned for various industrial applications [12–15]. However, pure DLC coatings are inert and do not react with conventional lubricants to form a protective tribofilm, leading to wear and tear [14]. Conventional lubricants are not sustainable and may not perform well with DLC coatings. Ionic liquids (ILs) have emerged as a promising solution due to their high thermal stability, low vapor pressure, low flammability, and tuneable properties for specific applications [16–21]. Phosphorus-based ionic liquids in particular, have shown promising results in reducing friction under boundary lubrication conditions by forming a tribofilm [22–24]. ILs are liquid salts composed of organic substances, characterized by a low melting temperature, high combustible temperature, low vapor pressure, superior thermal stability, low volatility, and high miscibility with organic substances [25]. They offer several advantages in lubrication systems, including reduced energy consumption, protection against friction and wear, and improved longevity [25–29]. ILs can be tailor-made to meet specific requirements by varying the combination of cations and anions [30].

The cationic structure of ILs contributes to their exceptional properties, such as high miscibility with lubricants, low melting point, superior thermal stability, and unique molecular structure [31]. The spherical shape of the ions and the variations in alkyl chains and quadrilateral structures enhance the lubrication properties of ILs, making them suitable for high-performance lubricants [32]. The anionic structure of ILs, such as hexafluorophosphate (PF6) and tetrafluoroborate (BF4), contributes to the formation of protective films that improve the wear resistance of the lubricated surfaces [33–38]. The tribological efficiency of ILs depends on the nature of the anion and cation. Hydrophobic ILs generally perform better in tribological applications compared to hydrophilic ILs [39].

ILs have demonstrated remarkable tribological behaviour as both neat lubricants and additives [40]. They can form lubrication films on interacting surfaces, resulting in reduced friction and wear. ILs have been investigated for their potential to enhance the tribological properties of traditional lubricant systems as additives [41]. The electrical charge of the DLC surface and the adsorption ability of the lubricant played significant roles in friction control [42,43]. The electrical conductivity of the lubricant (ionic liquid) affected the transport of additives to the surface, ultimately impacting friction. Higher electrical conductivity in IL-additivated lubricants resulted in faster transport kinetics and lower friction [44].

Many studies have been conducted on the interaction between base oils, lubricant additives, and doped DLC coatings over the past 30 years, but there is no consensus yet, moreover there is little to no research on the interaction of doped DLC and ionic liquids [45–50]. To overcome this limitation, doping with metals such as tungsten, zirconium, titanium, chromium, and silver has been done and it is successful in improving their thermal stability, corrosion resistance, and adhesion to the substrate, but the coefficient of friction still remains comparatively high [51–59]. Additionally, the lubrication mechanism and performance of new additives, developed to improve energy efficiency in moving mechanical components, when used with DLC films, are still unknown. The researchers have explored the tribological behavior of DLC coatings doped with rare earth metals like Gd and Eu, which showed significant improvement in the reaction with ionic liquids and doped DLC [60]. Research done by Omiya et al. and Sadeghi et al. has shown that as the concentration of dopants (Eu and Gd) increases in the DLC their affinity towards the ionic liquid additivated lubricant increases [61,62].

In this study, we will be using trihexyltetradecylphosphonium bis(2ethylhexyl) phosphate  $[P_{66614}]$  [DEHP], which has been shown to react with iron surfaces and form an iron phosphate tribofilm layer [63–65]. In situ atomic force microscopy (AFM) by Li et al. has confirmed the adsorption of [P<sub>66614</sub>] [DEHP] on the iron surface through its phosphate anions, resulting in reduced nanoscale ionic liquid friction [66]. Another lubricant additive, 1-Ethyl-3methylimidazolium diethylphosphate ([EMIM][DEP]), has shown low wear rate and CoF due to its phosphorus-based anions [67–71]. DEP has also been recognized as a green and sustainable solvent for a sustainable future [72–74]. The phenomenon of chemical wear, resulting in reduced CoF and increased wear volume, has been observed with DEP [71]. The ionic liquid additives in PAO8 will henceforth be reported as either Ionic Liquid #1 or IL#1 for PAO 8 + 1 wt.%  $\{P_{66614}|DEHP\}\$  and Ionic Liquid #2 or IL#2 for PAO 8 + 1 wt.%  $\{EMIM|DEP\}\$ .

Despite the importance of these studies, only a few have focused on the benefits of using DLCs lubricated by ILs (ionic liquids) as a lubricant or oils that contain ILs with anti-wear additives. Therefore, for our experimental investigation, we will be employing Europium and Gadolinium as dopants of rare earth elements in DLC coatings to study their interaction with ionic liquids as additives in Polyalphaolefin 8 (PAO8). The rare earth elements are unexplored in the field of doping of DLC. Ionic liquids have been in use as solvent for the extraction of Europium and Gadolinium due to its affinity towards them [75]. Prior research has shown that ionic liquids can enhance the luminescence properties of rare earth metals and are used in their extraction processes [76-79]. The trivalent oxidation state of lanthanide ions makes them attractive for tribological processes with ionic liquids and their impact on tribolayer formation will be investigated. The tribological processes, where ILs serve as anti-wear additives, are expected to be influenced using lanthanides, according to these indications. Non rare earth metals have been used in doping and they have improved their thermal stability, corrosion resistance, and adhesion to the substrate, but the coefficient of friction still remains comparatively high or there are some caveats. Khanmohammadi et al. did experiments on silver which improved the properties, but CoF was high, whereas tungsten showed good results but was limited to low temperature with glycol-based water lubricant [80]. In another study researchers conducted a study on Cr-doped coatings made of diamond-like carbon (Cr-DLC) using PVD and PECVD methods [81]. The lubrication performance of solid-liquid composite lubrication systems was studied using two ionic liquids (ILs) as lubricants. The findings indicated that the friction coefficient was reduced but it corroded the surface [81].

Therefore, to assess the tribological performance, a comprehensive study was conducted to examine the behaviour of lanthanides, specifically gadolinium (Gd) and europium (Eu), as reactive elements on the surface of diamond-like carbon (DLC) coatings. The DLC coatings were prepared using a deposition technique known as High Power Impulse Magnetron Sputtering (HiPIMS). The

objective was to evaluate the lubrication effectiveness of these coatings when subjected to sliding against steel surfaces, in the presence of lubricants with ILs as additives compared to regularly used base oil (BO). Comparing the samples lubricated with ILs and base oil along with various temperatures has allowed for a comprehensive evaluation of the dependency of ILs and the efficacy of the doping process on enhancing the lubrication performance of ILs in tribological applications.

Overall, the combination of doped DLC coatings and ILs showed promising results in improving tribological properties. The addition of doping elements enhanced the performance of DLC coatings, while ILs with their lubricity and thermal stability proved to be suitable for various tribological applications. The combination of doped DLC coatings and ILs was reported to further enhance their tribological properties through the formation of a protective film or tribofilm on the coating surface.

### 1.1 Aim of the Study

The objective of this master's thesis is to evaluate the tribological performance of doped-DLCs in the presence of different ionic liquids under different temperatures. This will be achieved using the comparative study of doped DLC along with pure DLC, ILs as additives in PAO-8 along with pure PAO-8 at three different temperatures of 60 °C, 80 °C and 100 °C.

- Evaluate the frictional behaviour of diamond like carbon (DLC) coatings doped with Europium and Gadolinium as well as pure DLC with Ionic Liquids as lubricant additive in PAO8 and pure PAO-8.
- Evaluate the lubrication performance of phosphorus based lonic Liquids as lubricant additive in PAO8 and pure PAO8 with Europium and Gadolinium diamond like carbon (DLC) coatings along with pure DLC coating.
- Evaluate the frictional behaviour as well as lubrication performance at three different working temperatures of 60 °C, 80 °C and 100 °C.

## 2 State of the Art

It is a grave concern about energy and sustainability which require more efficient industrial systems to be developed. The global energy, which is produced by fossil fuels, have a significant negative impact [1] Transportation vehicles alone consume about 30% of all energy produced, and the worst part is that one-third of that being lost through wear and friction [2]. Efforts are being spent worldwide to improve the efficiency and wear-resistance of mechanical components [82–84].

Along with the growing electric vehicles, it is necessary to meet requirements for CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the major cities [85–87]. The panacea to reduce friction in sliding components and to decrease damage can be done through lubricants, which mostly mineral or synthetic. To increase the certain properties of lubricant, additives are added to them. They react with the surface to form a tribofilm and to reduce friction, friction modifiers are added and similarly to reduce wear, anti-wear additives are added.

Zinc dialkyldithiophosphates (ZDDPs) are the most widely used lubricant additives [88] and it does its job, but the downside is that it is very reactive and corrosive, it blocks the filters in the engines and the main concern is that it is very harmful to the environment. ZDDP therefore has an extensive guideline on its safety and handling standards in ACC (American Chemistry Council) [89]. For this reason, researchers have been searching for a worthy alternative to it and ionic liquids seems to be the perfect candidate for it. Ionic liquids are molten salts made up of cations and anions which have lubricating properties along with excellent high thermal stability, low flammability and negligible vapour pressure. There are many studies conducted on the ionic liquids and specially on the phosphorous based ILs on the steel surface [90] but there is little or no research on the DLC coated surfaces. The control and optimization of phosphorus in ionic liquids can be carefully done. By creating lubricants with the minimum necessary amount of phosphorus to achieve the desired performance, we can further reduce the potential impact on the environment. In our case, we limit the additive to just 1%, making the phosphorus content in the lubricating oil negligible. Furthermore, in certain situations, using phosphorus in ionic liquids can be a safer option compared to other lubricants that have more dangerous additives. By incorporating phosphorus-based compounds in ionic liquids, we may be able to replace lubricants that contain toxic or environmentally harmful substances, resulting in a decrease in overall environmental risks [91–94].

DLC coatings have excellent wear resistance as well as they have high hardness [95,96] but they have very low reactivity with the lubricants used currently in machines [97]. There has been research to dope DLC with metals and nonmetals like tungsten and silicon [57,98] which improves the compatibility of DLC with lubricants but the use of DLC along with the ionic liquids is still unexplored. Moreover, the use of rare earth metals as dopant in the DLC coating is the novel research to find out the interaction between them.

In this chapter there's an overview of the thin film coatings, more specifically about DLC coatings, doped DLC coatings and then about lubricants, in which the main focus will be on the Ionic Liquids as additives in lubricants.

#### 2.1 Thin Film Coating

Thin film coatings are characterized by thickness in the range of nanometres to few micrometres. It can be made up of single or different elemental compositions, layers, phases which can give us composite or homogenous coatings. Coatings are generally applied to increase the performance of the substrate without interfering with the properties of the bulk material. Thin film coating is an effective and cost-efficient technique for surface engineering and modification.

Thin film deposition can be divided into two categories based on the method of deposition that is chemical or physical vapour deposition. To generalise, chemical vapour deposition (CVD) basically uses liquid or gas chemical reactions to deposit the film whereas, physical vapour deposition (PVD) technique uses evaporation, or sputtering of target material on to the substrate [99].

Thin film coatings are in use for the application of improving the strength, toughness, fatigue, hardness, corrosion, wear and tear. It is used in the automobile industry, chip manufacturers for superconductor machines [100], microprocessors [101], electromagnetic machines [102], hard coatings and visual coatings for optics [103,104]. DLC coatings are a type of thin film.

#### 2.1.1 DLC Coatings

DLC coatings as of now are widely studied and one of the main coatings under analysis in University of Coimbra. Tribology is made up of three parts, that is friction, wear and lubrication. Therefore, studying DLC and its interdependence on all these three aspects is of crucial importance. The coefficient of friction and wear are the important parameters of DLC coatings. The important factor to note is that the conventional lubrication makes the DLC coatings increase their coefficient of friction [14].

This can be further analysed, by understanding the interaction of doped DLC as there are some structural differences in the non-doped coatings from the bonding types. DLC is made of  $sp^2$  and  $sp^3$  diamond like bonding along with some hydrogen content or not at all [49,105]. If these DLC are doped with certain

other metals, non-metals, rare earth metals, it will give us superior tribological characteristics. Out of this rare earth metals have never been studied and this paves a novel way for us to research.

The thing with DLC is that it is a dry lubricant coating which means it does not require lubricant, so when the two materials slide over each other the hard one will wear out the other material, and DLC has in general higher hardness compared to other materials. But even though DLC have higher hardness they wear out [105]. Under specific circumstances, DLC coatings can act as a solid lubricant. This happens when carbon or other elements from the coating transfer to the surfaces that are sliding or rubbing against each other. This transfer forms a thin film or layer that acts as a lubricant, reducing friction and preventing wear [49].

Now the important factor to look for is that most of machines and systems run on lubricated conditions and it is of utmost importance to study the interaction of DLC coatings with lubricants, this has been done over the years and it has been found that DLC are inert to any sort lubricants compared to bare surface of steel, which can increase friction [106–108]. Whereas, in certain doped DLC with certain lubricants the friction has reduced [109–111].

#### 2.1.1.1 Doping of DLC Coatings

To overcome some of the shortcomings and to increase the desirable properties in the DLC coatings, researchers have studied various doping elements in DLC like Si, F, N, O, and metals, etc [112,113].

Figure 1 shows some of the doping elements introduced into the DLC compositions for achieving improved properties. It has helped to achieve excellent hardness, thermal stability, tribological properties, surface energy, internal stresses, etc. DLC coatings have very low coefficient of friction and high hardness which it gives it the excellent characteristics of very low wear rates, but this comes at the cost of high internal stresses which are one of the main hurdles in the pure DLC coatings and it is irrespective of the technique used in thin film growth like pulsed laser deposition, magnetron sputtering or ion beam deposition, etc. This high compressive stresses in the DLC coatings makes the film to bulge and then come out of the surface, hence the researchers found the way out by using other metallic and non-metallic elements as dopants in the DLC coatings to improve its properties. Doping in DLC is a modification technique to release their internal compressive stresses, to increase the reaction of lubricant with the surface, to increase their adhesive properties (by incorporating Si, N, metals), modify their surface energy (by incorporating O, N, F, Si), and it can also increase its biocompatibility (by incorporating Ca, Ti, Si) [114]. In Figure 1 we can see some of the doping elements and the improvement in the properties.



Figure 1. Doping elements achieving improved properties in DLC [113]

If the metal doping is above 30-40% it causes an increase in the hard carbide and metallic phases which in return increases the coefficient of friction with higher abrasion and adhesive wear. The metal doping elements are very versatile with low internal stresses and coefficient of wear, and it is more used in the industries than its pure DLC counterpart. This is mostly due its gradual transition from the metal to ceramic which provides higher load support and adhesion strength. It should be taken under consideration that doping provides various characteristic properties and, in some cases, it might work in certain circumstances but is ineffective in the other, this requires a thorough tribological and field test to be done. After this analysis is achieved, the dopant and doped DLC can give us desired tribological properties with steady state wear and friction rates [114].

For our experimental purposes we will be using Europium and Gadolinium as rare earth element dopants in the DLC coatings, and we will find out their interaction with ionic liquids as additive in PAO8 and pure PAO8.

The rare earth metals group has not been explored much to increase the reactivity of the DLC surface. Lanthanide ions have a high attraction to ILs because they are in the trivalent oxidation state [75]. This has been shown in studies where ILs were used to extract rare earth metals [76,78,115] and improve their luminescent properties [79]. It is believed that using lanthanides can affect the tribolayer formed during tribological processes where ILs are used as anti-wear additives.

### 2.2 Regular Liquid Lubricants

The lubricants have a natural property of being lubricious, which protects the surfaces against wear and tear. Their properties can be of significant importance and can vary from surface protection to heat dissipation characteristics. They provide a smooth sliding and rolling motion in the machine components with reduced friction and noise. They interact directly with the surface and asperities on it to form a tribofilm. Lubricants with a desired property are actually a mixture of the base stock with certain types of additives. The percentage of additives is according to the necessity of the desired property, and it is in the range of 1 to 25%. The classification of the lubricants can be seen in the Figure 2. Base oils are most commonly of three types, viz. mineral oils, vegetable oils and synthetic oils. The mineral oils are extracted from the crude oils by fractional distillation process. But due to its toxicity and very poor biodegradability, we need to find a better way and abundant way. Vegetable oil lubricants can be a solution, but they have poor viscosity index [116–118]. In *Figure 2* we can see the simplified classification of the lubricants and where does ionic liquids belong.



Figure 2. Classification of lubricants [117]

#### 2.2.1 Functions of lubricants

Function of lubricants depends on the desired property required in the machine or component. The main aim of the lubricant is to protect the surfaces from wear and tear and to dissipate the heat. Various other functions of lubricant are, sweep away the contaminations, prevent corrosion, lower the

vibration and noise, act as seal for gases, to separate the interacting surfaces, to remove heat and transfer power [117].

#### 2.2.2 Synthetic Lubricants

In simple terms, synthetic lubricants are the artificial made lubricants which has enormous benefits unlike the mineral oils, it has extended the machine safety along with the duration we need to change the lubricant is enhanced. Synthetic lubricants are made from the synthetic base oils and comes from the chemical reactions of one or many products, which may be combined with various additives to enhance the properties of the lubricants. Synthetics base oils are mostly derived from the polyphenyl esters, synthetic hydrocarbons, phosphatic esters, silicones, polyalkylene glycols, fluorosilicones, organic esters, and others [119].

The base oil which we will be using in our experiments is Polyalphaolefin 8 (PAO 8). Polyalphaolefin (PAO) are the most widely used synthetic lubricant which has synthetic hydrocarbons to give us higher and wider operating temperature range along with being less volatile [120]. PAO oils offer greater creep resistance and water washout. It has superior lubricity on various substrates of metal-to-metal and metal-to-plastics. PAO 8 is an extremely branched isoparaffinic Polyalphaolefin, which has higher volatility, oxidative stability and it has superior viscosity index along with best low temperature viscosities. It also has a superior pour point [121].

All these superior properties of PAO 8 make it the most preferred lubricant for extreme situations and operating circumstances in extreme cold start up or in extreme temperature conditions. PAO 8 is odourless and colourless, moreover it is not toxic or corrosive to the component as it does not have any sulphur and aromatic compounds in it [122]. It acts as the excellent base oil for the addition of additives and will be used with ionic liquids in our experiments.

#### 2.2.3 Ionic Liquids

The development of biodegradable, environmentally friendly lubricants with lower toxicity levels is imperative. Within the realm of green chemistry, effective lubrication decreases energy consumption in mechanical applications, thereby reducing energy loss due to friction. The utilization of quality lubricants also protects all materials from friction and wear while promoting longevity. Additionally, employing an exceptional lubrication system aid in conserving energy, reducing energy loss, and minimizing raw material usage [25]. Recently, ionic liquids (ILs) have emerged as promising lubricant options for various applications. ILs, liquid salts composed of organic substances, are characterized by a low melting temperature, high combustible temperature, low vapor pressure, superior thermal stability, low volatility, and high miscibility with organic substances [25–29].

Ionic liquids basically mean a liquid with ions, and it is true to its name as it contains anions and cations [30,123]. Detailed research about the history of ionic liquids is done by Welton [124]. Many scientists explain ionic liquids as salts that are liquids below 100 °C, but it is misguiding as there are now many high temperature applications where liquids above 100 °C are required [125]. Ionic liquids are very ancient and were first reported by Gabreil in 1888. Ionic liquids are constituted by the combination of organic cations and inorganic or organic anions, and as a result, the physicochemical characteristics of these liquids can be modified by varying the combination of cations and anions. This allows for the design of customized ionic liquids are the liquids which are composed of only ions and no other molecular species present but with certain exceptions [125].

#### 2.2.3.1 Methods of production

Ionic liquids come under the category of synthetic lubricants; therefore, they are artificially made by humans in the laboratory with experiments. Merck, Aldrich, Acros, etc are the commercial manufacturers of the ionic liquids in large quantities whereas, several research labs around the world manufacture them for their R&D. As ionic liquids have commercial success for their use as a solvent they are mostly favored for the same. There is still ongoing research for the use of ionic liquids as lubricants and it is quite promising with results.

There are many types of ionic liquids and with the permutation and combination of different ions it gives us more than million different ionic liquids, practically infinite! As of the current research exploration, ionic liquids mostly revolve around the imidazolium salts [126]. The methods of production for our 2 ionic liquids are explained below, the procedure varies according to required properties and chemistry.

#### 1-Ethyl-3-methylimidazolium diethylphosphate ([EMIM][DEP])

A uniform mixture of 1-Methylimidazole (25.0000 g, 0.30 mol) and triethyl phosphate (50.0000 g, 0.30 mol) was subjected to stirring at 80 °C for 8 h under reflux, after which the reaction mixture was further stirred at 150 °C for 10 h. The resulting ionic liquid was cooled to room temperature and subjected to washing with diethyl ether (4×30 mL). The ionic liquid was then subjected to evaporation under reduced pressure at 75 °C for 4 h to remove all volatile residues, and subsequently vacuum-dried at 80 °C for 48 h to yield a light-yellow

liquid identified as 1-Ethyl-3- methylimidazolium diethylphosphate ([EMIM]DEP) [30].

Trihexyltetradecylphosphonium bis(2-ethylhexyl) phosphate [P<sub>66614</sub>] [DEHP]

synthesis of Trihexyltetradecylphosphonium bis(2-ethylhexyl) The phosphate ([P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]) was carried out by adding 8.96 g [P<sub>66614</sub>]Br and 5.13 g bis(2-ethylhexyl) phosphate (HDEHP) to a 100 ml beaker. The mixture was then subjected to the addition of 20 ml of Deionized water (DIW) and 25 ml of hexane. After stirring for a few minutes, the mixture separated into two layers, the upper vellow organic phase and the lower water phase. The ion exchange reaction between [P<sub>66614</sub>]Br and HDEHP was completed when the yellow organic phase turned colorless after some time. A solution of NaOH (0.64 g NaOH dissolved in 17 ml DIW) was added to the beaker, and the mixture was vigorously stirred for 4 h to remove the by-product of the ion exchange reaction (HBr). The resulting white emulsion was then centrifuged at 8000 r/min for 5 min to separate the NaBr aqueous solution (bottom of the centrifuge tube) and the [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP] phase (upper part of the centrifugal tube). The [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP] phase was collected and washed four times with DIW to remove any remaining NaBr. The hexane was then removed by rotary evaporation, and the product was dried under vacuum at 70 °C overnight. The [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]-G gel was prepared by grinding 200 mg graphene with 1 ml [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP] in an agate mortar with a pestle for 30 min. After the mechanical grinding treatment, the structure and physicochemical properties of the resulting product were aligned [127].

#### 2.2.3.2 Characteristics

Ionic Liquids are recently trending for their peculiar characteristics and being associated as green lubricants. A green lubricant, also known as an environmentally friendly or eco-friendly lubricant, refers to a lubricating substance that is formulated with a focus on reducing its impact on the environment compared to traditional lubricants. The majority of researched ionic liquid lubricants contain imidazolium alkyl cations and either hexafluorophosphate or tetrafluoroborate anions[128–142]. As the ionic liquids can be tailor made, which can be infinite, and their properties can vary significantly, the more common characteristics for which it is usually preferred are non-volatility, versatile solubility, and thermal stability [126].

One of the main characteristics of ionic liquid is that it is green and sustainable, but if some contains phosphate, which is already an environment depleting element, so how it is sustainable? To answer this question, phosphate is commonly employed as lubricating oil additive [143–151]. The creation of an ionic liquid exhibiting superior lubrication and anti-wear characteristics while

posing no corrosion issues to metallic friction pairs can be achieved by coordinating phosphate with cations that are resistant to hydrolysis. Drawing inspiration from this concept, a series of alkylimidazolium cation and phosphate anion-based ionic liquids were synthesized, and their tribological properties as lubricants were thoroughly studied [152].

#### 2.2.3.2.1 Cationic structure and Anionic structure

lonic liquids are composed of anions (ions carrying negative charge) and cations (ions carrying positive charge) [153]. Within an ionic liquid, the cationic structure often incorporates organic compounds, including ammonium or imidazolium, accompanied by alkyl chains and diverse substituents [154,155]. As for the anionic structure, it can be either inorganic or organic, exhibiting distinct sizes, shapes, and functional groups [154]. The properties of the ionic liquid, such as viscosity, conductivity, and solubility, are determined by the specific combination of cations and anions. Through the design of the cationic and anionic structures, the properties of ionic liquids can be tailored for various applications [156]. Furthermore, long alkyl chain substituents increase the tribological efficiency of cationic and anionic ILs but decrease their thermal stability. Hydrophobic ILs typically exhibit better tribological performance compared to hydrophilic ILs [39].

#### 2.2.3.2.2 Thermal stability

Thermal stability is a pivotal characteristic that impedes the degradation of lubricant within the working temperature range. At elevated temperatures, the lubricants are susceptible to chemical degradation, leading to fluid evaporation and viscosity reduction [157,158].

To evaluate the thermal stability of ILs dissolved in oils under nitrogen, thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) was conducted extensively. Air is a crucial and practical medium for assessing the lubricating efficacy of ILs, wherein oxidation is inevitable. Typically, ILs exhibit greater thermal stability relative to hydrocarbon oils that decompose around 250°C. Previous studies have indicated that phosphonium-carboxylate and ammonium-phosphate ILs display inferior thermal stability when compared to phosphonium-phosphate ILs. Conversely, imidazolium- and pyridinium-based ILs exhibit remarkable thermal stability, even in the presence of cationic alkyl chains [159].

In contrast to mineral oil and water, ILs exhibit negligible evaporation [157,158].The thermal stability of a highly promising candidate for combustion engine utilization, ionic liquid is notably exceptional, exhibiting minimal mass loss even at temperatures up to 225 °C. Thus, the performance of ILs is deemed to surpass that of high-performance motor oils with regards to thermal stability

[160]. Thus, they are deemed environmentally benign compared to conventional lubricants.

#### 2.2.3.2.3 Corrosion behavior of ionic liquids

To be applied in industry, ionic liquids must fulfil several conditions and a thorough test to check its potential corrosion behaviour towards equipment materials. The deterioration of materials can jeopardize reliability, decrease productivity, trigger shutdowns of the system, decrease yields, taint manufactured goods, lead to overdesign expenses and necessitate expensive maintenance procedures [161].

One of the first comprehensive studies on this issue for flow-induced localized corrosion (erosion corrosion) cases was performed using the rotating cage technique and results showed that the tosylate and dimethyl phosphate anions have detrimental impacts. When diluted or contaminated with water, numerous anions utilized in the production of ionic liquids could undergo hydrolysis, leading to the creation of acids such as sulfuric and phosphoric acid. This process leads to an acidic environment which causes corrosion [161]. However, the focus of this research did not include the examination of localized attacks or flow-related analyses of ionic liquids. These areas warrant further investigation [161].

In a similar study with rotating cage setup, a screening was conducted of various ILs with differing ion structures to evaluate their corrosiveness behavior. The outcome of the study reveals a significant dependence of the corrosion behavior on the particular chemical structure of the ionic combination. It was observed that the vast majority of the tested ILs displayed a low level of corrosiveness in interaction with steel, particularly stainless steel [160]

Corrosion inhibitors refer to substances that are added to the operating fluid in minimal quantities and chemically or mechanically interact with the metal surface to impede any further metal degradation and reduce corrosion [162–165]. Several studies have investigated the potential of ILs as corrosion inhibitors [162,166,167].

Therefore, based on the literature, while ionic liquids (ILs) can act as corrosion inhibitors, they can also promote corrosion in some cases. The corrosive behavior of ILs can depend on various factors, including the chemical structure of the IL and the metal surface, as well as the environmental conditions. These studies suggest that ILs can potentially act as corrosion promoters depending on their chemical structure and the conditions in which they are used. Therefore, it is important to carefully consider the specific IL and conditions when using them in industrial applications.

#### 2.2.3.2.4 Hygroscopicity

Lubricant free from impurities works as desired but water being an impurity for lubricants is an inevitable parameter which generally sips into the system from the environment. So, water is not good for lubrication because it can actually damage the lubricant. Water can cause a process called hydrolysis, which breaks down the molecules in the lubricant and makes it less effective. Therefore, it is imperative to maintain hygroscopic stability in a lubricant to uphold its physical and chemical properties. The hydrolysis process can produce harmful by-products that can inflict permanent damage to the lubricant and reduce its quality [168].

Several studies have reported that ILs possess a broad range of physical properties when exposed to water and works in favor in some conditions. The physical properties of fluids significantly impact their lubrication properties, including their cooling capabilities. The ability of a coolant to minimize temperature is heavily dependent on its heat transfer properties such as convective heat transfer coefficient, specific heat capacity, thermal conductivity, and specific heat of evaporation. Various formulations and physical properties of ILs have been explored by several researchers [169–175]. In comparison with normal water-based and mineral oil-based coolants, ILs offer a broad range of physical and thermal properties.

#### 2.3 Tribology

Tribology is the study of surfaces moving relative to one another, which includes the three most important things that is friction, wear, and lubrication. Tribology comes from the Greek word tribos, which means rubbing. The resistance to relative motion is called as friction whereas, wear is the loss of material from the relative motion and nevertheless lubrication is the use of lubricating liquid or solid to decrease the wear and friction. Tribology plays an important role in the machine components as total one third of the energy is lost in the friction and it is a driving need of every industry to reduce frictional losses and increase the efficiency for higher production and monetary benefits but along with this it has a very importance for the environmental sustainability [176].

To facilitate the understanding of our project we need to understand the three major aspects of the tribology. In which friction is the resistance to motion and this resistance is turn a material function and is related to the geometries and surface roughness or surface features in contact. It is also dependent on the environmental and operating conditions. The most common notion is that as the load and surface roughness increases, along with no or decreased lubrication it causes an increase in the friction. Now due to the increase in the friction it will cause the increase in the wear of the sliding bodies and can lead to the failure of the machine, therefore lubrication is used in between the parts to reduce the friction and to separate the two interacting bodies to prevent the friction and wear. Lubrication also has some other major functions to dissipate the heat and remove wear and debris from the contact [176]. Lubricants can be of mineral, synthetic or biological origin and have certain additives to give them specific properties. They can also be in the form of solids or gases but are generally in liquid form.

#### 2.3.1 Tribology of DLCs

The tribological characteristics of the DLC coatings is of great importance as they have the some of the lowest coefficient of friction [177]. The DLC coatings when they lose hydrogen through the annealing at high temperatures the coefficient of friction increases in the UHV but not in the humid surrounding. The wear and friction characteristics of the DLC coatings can be influenced by the transfer layer from the friction. Carbon materials, such as graphite, nongraphitic carbon, carbon-carbon composite, and non-hydrogenated amorphous carbon, have their friction and wear affected by gases in the environment when sliding. These materials generally have higher friction and wear in environments without lubrication. The same effect can be seen when these materials are exposed to water vapor or oxygen. Even small amounts of water vapor, as little as 100 ppm in nitrogen, can effectively lubricate these materials [177]. Oxygen, depending on the humidity in surrounding can behave as lubricant or it can behave as a tribochemical wear agent.

The tribological behaviour of DLC is typically controlled by a transfer layer that is formed during sliding of the surfaces in contact. This transfer layer can have a lubricating effect and its formation may be increased by hydrogen but can be limited in the presence of water or oxygen. It has been noted that the friction coefficient of hydrogenated DLC films increases in humid air, which is thought to be due to the increased van der Waals bond strength of hydrogen bonding to adsorbed water molecules [177].

When examining the tribological properties of DLC, consideration must be given to the material of the surface that is in contact with it. This has been studied by various authors. A significant difference was observed in the wear rates of steel, silicon nitride, and DLC when they were sliding against DLC. In dry air, the wear of silicon nitride and steel against DLC was found to be unmeasurable due to the formation of a protective DLC transfer layer. In humid air, the DLC transfer layer did not adhere well to the solids, and the wear of both silicon nitride and steel was greater than in dry air. However, the wear of DLC against itself was found to be unmeasurable. These results are thought to be caused by friction-induced transformation of the surface layer of DLC. The transformed layer is believed to have low shear strength and to transfer to the counter-surface during rubbing. It is speculated that humidity increases the shear strength of the transformed layer and weakens the adhesion between DLC and the surface of the counterpart, thus increasing the wear of the pins [178].

#### 2.3.1.1 Tribology of doped diamond-like carbon coatings and ionic liquids

In a study by Hamid K. et al., three DLC coatings (DLC, W-doped DLC, and Ag-doped DLC) were deposited on stainless steel substrates, and their friction properties in dry and lubricated conditions using water-based lubricants were investigated [44]. Three different ILs and a known organic friction modifier (dodecanoic acid) were used as additives. The doped coatings demonstrated superior mechanical integrity, toughness, and adhesion compared to undoped DLC. Among the coatings, the Ag-doped DLC had the best mechanical properties. Tungsten carbide precipitates were formed by W in the DLC coating. Friction was additive-adsorption controlled by two different mechanisms: а triboelectrochemical activation mechanism for Ag-DLC and an electron-transfer mechanism for W-DLC, resulting in the largest friction reduction [44]. The friction of DLC (diamond-like carbon) is influenced by the electrical charge of the surface and the lubricant's ability to adsorb to the surface. The electrical conductivity of the lubricant (ionic liquid) drives the transport of additives to the surface and impacts friction. The higher the lubricant's electrical conductivity, the lower the friction. Additionally, the Zeta-potential of DLC surfaces in aqueous solutions is negative, resulting in no change in friction with the addition of negatively charged molecules [42,43]. The higher electrical conductivity in ILadditivated lubricants leads to faster transport kinetics of the cation and anion moieties to the surface, resulting in lower friction [44].

Arshad M. et al. explored the potential of enhancing the lubrication properties of tungsten-doped diamond-like carbon coatings by incorporating a 1,3-dimethylimidazolium dimethylphosphate ionic liquid into glycerol base oil. The researchers conducted tribological tests under varying loads (5 N, 10 N, 20 N) and elevated temperature (100 °C). They found that the friction coefficient was significantly reduced by approximately 50% when 1 wt% IL was included. They also discovered that the formation of a thin tungsten phosphate (WPO) based tribofilm on the surface of the coatings played a crucial role in friction reduction. A temperature-induced tribochemical reaction occurred with the ionic liquid additivated with glycerol and DLC, which formed a phosphate-based tribofilm on the surface. The study provides insights into the lubrication mechanism and offers implications for the development of improved lubricants for tribological systems [179].

Another investigation was conducted by Arshad M. et al. to examine the interaction between coatings of tungsten-doped diamond-like carbon (WDLC) and three phosphate-based ionic liquid (IL) additives. Among these additives, two contained the anion dimethylphosphate, while the third contained the hydrolytic trifluorophosphate anion. The tests were carried out under boundary-lubrication conditions. The findings indicated that IL additives containing dimethylphosphate anions exhibited reduced friction on the surface of WDLC, whereas the IL with trifluorophosphate anion displayed poor performance. Analysis of the surface revealed the formation of a tribofilm based on phosphate on the WDLC surface when dimethylphosphate additives were present, resulting in friction reduction. The WDLC coatings demonstrated remarkable resistance to wear [180].

Researchers conducted a study on Cr-doped coatings made of diamondlike carbon (Cr-DLC) using PVD and PECVD methods [81]. The lubrication performance of solid-liquid composite lubrication systems was studied using two ionic liquids (ILs) as lubricants. The findings indicated that the friction coefficient was reduced by about 40% when compared to dry conditions, and the composite system displayed an effective synergistic lubrication effect. The Cr-DLC coating showed superior tribological, mainly because of its improved physicochemical film formation during friction and the dense microstructure of the Cr-DLC coating. The ILs' viscosity, corrosiveness, and coating microstructure influenced the composite systems' synergistic effect [81].

Rare earth metals like Gd and Eu can be added to DLC to improve its reactivity with ILs. Testing shows that low atomic concentration of Eu or Gd (1-3%) doped-DLC films have a slightly higher CoF but low wear rates and high hardness, making them suitable for many applications [60].

The study examined the effect of a silicon-doped diamond-like coating on tribological behavior in IL-lubricated friction pairs [181]. Tests showed that the coating, when used with the ionic liquid, reduced both coefficient of friction and wear. The study concluded that using DLC coatings lubricated with the ionic liquid helps improve tribological properties of sliding surfaces under friction [181].

Ti-doped DLC coatings were prepared on steel substrates and analyzed using Raman and TEM. Two types of ILs were synthesized and evaluated as lubricants for Ti-DLC/steel contacts, with excellent friction-reducing properties. These coatings with ILs lubricating systems have potential as lubricants in vacuum and space moving friction pairs [182].

A study examined how the concentration and type of electrolyte in the solution affects the adhesion of hydrophobic material to silicon-doped DLC surfaces [183]. As electrolyte concentration increased from 0 to approximately

0.01 M, there was a small but significant increase in contact angle. An increase in Si content in the DLC coatings increased the change in contact angle for all types of electrolytes. These results suggest that adding electrolytes to the surrounding solvent reduces adhesion to Si-doped DLC surfaces due to increased ion adsorption and greater surface hydrophilicity [183]. These results can also be translated to the work of ionic liquids.

Limited research has been conducted on the tribological properties of doped DLC coatings with ionic liquids (ILs), and their combined effect has been found to be highly beneficial. The addition of doping elements has demonstrated to improve the tribological properties of DLC coatings significantly. ILs, with their exceptional characteristics such as excellent lubricity and high thermal stability, are deemed ideal for various tribological applications. Through the formation of a protective film or tribofilm on the surface of the coating, the combination of doped DLC coatings and ILs has been reported to elevate their tribological properties further.

#### 2.3.2 Tribology of Ionic Liquids

Ionic liquids (ILs) have been widely implemented in lubrication systems, either as an additive or a neat lubricant. Researchers have demonstrated the remarkable outcomes of IL-based lubricants due to their exceptional properties and the potential to customize or substitute for traditional lubricants, thereby achieving superior results or improved output performance. Furthermore, the ability to vary the combination of cations and anions confers a significant advantage in the formulation of ILs for specific engineering and manufacturing applications. The physical properties of ILs and their potential have been extensively studied, primarily in the context of anti-wear and lubrication properties. The collective performance of ionic liquids reveals that when biobased oil is mixed with ILs, the minimum coefficient of friction is achieved. The enhanced tribological performance of oil in the presence of ILs is attributable to the dipolar structure of ionic liquids, which adsorbs on the interacting surfaces and produces a lubrication film [41]. However, the use of ILs as lubricants raises concerns regarding thermal oxidation, toxicity, corrosion, oil miscibility, and cost. Recent research has focused on developing thermally stable, noncorrosive, and oil-soluble ILs, which has been the subject of much discussion among researchers. The primary research on ILs in lubrication has shifted from utilizing them as both lubricant additives and neat lubricants to developing phosphorus-free ionic liquids as energy-efficient and halogen and environmentally friendly lubricant additives for steel-based engineering surfaces. The focus is to establish the correlation between the anion structure and the tribophysical properties of ILs. Halogen-free ionic liquids, such as

borate-based ionic liquids, are of particular importance for lubricant applications in the present and future.

#### 2.3.2.1 Ionic Liquids as a neat lubricant

Numerous research studies have been conducted on the use of ionic liquids as neat lubricants [40]. Specifically, the use of three types of ionic liquids, namely 1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium tris(pentafluoroethyl)trifluorophosphate, 1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide ethyl-dimethyl-2and methoxyethylammonium tris(pentafluoroethyl)trifluorophosphate, in steel-tosteel contact has been investigated [184]. The results obtained from the studies show that the ionic liquid [BMP][NTf<sub>2</sub>] exhibited the lowest friction coefficient [184]. The effect of alkyl chain components on the chemical changes of various types of methylimidazolium salt was studied [185–187]. The presence of tribofilms in samples lubricated was confirmed by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy, while only neat ionic liquid without interaction with the surface could be detected inside the wear scar of the sample lubricated, which suggests their usability as straight and neat lubricants.

#### 2.3.2.2 Ionic liquids as an additive

The use of ionic liquids as lubricants presents a promising option for improving the cost-effectiveness of traditional lubricant systems. While the high cost of ionic liquids currently limits their use as neat lubricants to specialized applications, their incorporation as additives in small quantities in the base oils has gained interest due to their potential to enhance tribological properties [188]. By this it will be a good starting point for the use of ionic liquids in lubricants until a commercially viable cheap solution is devised. Therefore, a continuous drive for improved friction and wear performance for common tribopairs, as well as the need to facilitate lubrication in difficult-to-lubricate systems, necessitates the development of additive-based lubrication systems.

In addition to lubrication applications, research has shown that the use of ILs as lubricant additives and corrosion inhibitors can effectively reduce friction and wear. ILs have also been found to form electric double layers in water, allowing for the effective adsorption of additives on ceramic surfaces and improving tribological properties [189]. However, the use of water-based lubricants is limited under elevated test temperatures due to their high volatility and low cooling point, and the development of tribofilms on ceramic substrates is often thin. Compared to ILs, water-based lubricants may exhibit higher coefficients of friction and greater attachment of surface-clean alkyl phosphate [188].

#### 2.3.2.3 Tribochemical reaction properties

Ionic liquids have opened new doors in the tribology as it works as a lubricant. Scientists did some tests to see how ILs affect friction when different metals are rubbed together [190–192]. They found that ILs work well with every metal, but the gases that get released when they decompose depend on the metal. Chemical reactions like adsorption, chemisorption, and tribochemical reactions play an important role in creating a boundary layer on the surface of the metal. When the metal is rubbed, a positive charge is created on the surface of small bumps, and the ILs stick to the surface because of their electrostatic charge, this helps to reduce friction and wear [193,194].

Scientists are using computer simulations to study how ionic liquids work as lubricants. They found that the way the liquid interacts with the solid surface is important for how it flows and lubricates. The simulations also showed that the ionic liquid can change from a liquid to a solid-like state under different pressure and movement. Studies also show that water can change the way ionic liquids behave when they are near solid surfaces [195].

As the size of the alkyl chains in fatty acid ionic liquids increases, the ionic liquids become better at reducing wear and friction[196]. It was found that an ionic liquid called with a long chain can make a stable liquid-based magnetic fluid that can be used as a lubricant [197]. Studies have shown that when ionic liquids and glycol ether mixtures are used on titanium surfaces, the friction force decreases as the normal load increases [198]. Research has been done on how ionic liquids can be used to make lubricating molecules move more smoothly. Using acid-based ionic liquids as additives in glycerol solution improves its ability to prevent corrosion and be used as a lubricant. Studies have been done on how using a combination of certain ionic liquids and an organic friction modifier can reduce friction. There is new research being done on the use of ionic liquids in different ways [199–202]. Ionic liquids made from biomaterials, such as amino acids and choline, have been found to have good properties as lubricants for steel surfaces. Ionic liquids have also been used as additives to reduce wear. Studies have shown that using certain ionic liquids can make surfaces have less friction and be protected from wear. Research has also been done on using a specific ionic liquid called trifluoromethyl sulfonyl amide as a lubricant and as an additive in polar oil [203–206].

Ionic liquids are being used more and more as lubricants. They are being tested in labs to see how well they work. The goal is to make them hydrophobic, which means they don't mix with water, to make them work better and last longer. Researchers are also trying to find ways to improve their anti-wear properties and reduce friction and corrosion. There is still a lot of work to be done to make new and better ionic liquids. They can be used in space and in high-temperature situations where there is a risk of fire. They can also be used in clean rooms where there are strict rules about harmful gases.

#### 2.3.2.4 Ionic liquids as extreme temperature lubricants

Ionic liquids can be used as lubricants in extreme temperatures. Researchers have studied the surface properties of metals lubricated with ILs at 300 °C. They found that ILs react with steel/iron substrates. New types of ILs have been developed, such as those with polyethylene glycol and functionalized dicationic, which exhibit excellent thermal stability and are reliable lubricants [207]. Some ILs, like imidazolium-based dynamic liquids, have high degradation temperatures which is greater than 400 °C, making them suitable for extreme temperature lubrication [190]. There are also different types of ionic fluid, such as polyacylater and polyifuoracillil, which have bridging moieties and can be tailored to have specific lubrication properties [190]. Thus, ionic liquids have a characteristic to maintain their properties at extreme temperature and pressure which makes them suitable for such conditions.

## 3 Materials and Methods

### 3.1 Specimens

There is a total of five DLC coatings which are selected, namely Pure DLC, 1.7%-Gd DLC, 2.3%-Gd DLC, 1.7%-Eu DLC, and 2.4%-Eu DLC. The study utilizes steel substrates (AISI M2) that are 25 mm in diameter and 8 mm thick. Before mirror-polishing the steel substrates, using a diamond paste (Ra $\approx$ 0.1 µm), the samples were tempered at 200 °C, achieving a hardness of around 60 HRC. Subsequently, the samples are cleaned by placing them in an ultrasonic bath filled with acetone and ethanol for 15 to 20 minutes.

After cleaning, the M2 samples are attached to an aluminium holder using silver glue and placed in the deposition chamber. The DLC coatings are deposited using the sputtering method with a DOMS power supply and a pure graphite target. Pellets containing Europium and Gadolinium are used in the target to achieve the desired composition. The chamber is then vacuumed and maintained at a pressure of  $3 \times 10^{-4}$  Pa using a turbomolecular pump. Before depositing the DLC coatings, the substrate and target are cleaned to remove any surface oxides for 10 minutes using a DOMS (Deep Oscillation Magnetron Sputtering) power supply of 600 W at a pressure of 0.4 Pa. Next, a Chromium interlayer is deposited to enhance adhesion on the substrate using direct-current magnetron sputtering. A 400 nm thick CrN layer is then deposited with an Ar:N<sub>2</sub> gas flow ratio of 1:3 for 7 minutes at 0.3 Pa.
Finally, the DLC coatings are deposited by HiPIMS for a duration of 57 minutes under a pressure of 0.4 Pa. This process results in the formation of the desired DLC coatings on the steel substrates, which can be further analysed and characterized for their properties and performance in the study. The wear rate of the coatings can be enhanced by the specific type and quantity of doped metals, thereby implying that the ionic liquid (IL) has the potential to improve their wear resistance characteristics [61]. Furthermore, it was observed by Omiya et al. that an increase in the atomic concentration of the doped metal led to a greater reduction in friction, particularly in Gd-doped diamond-like carbon (DLC) coatings compared to Eu-doped DLC coatings [61]. *Figure 3* shows the various DLC samples before the SEM analysis.



Figure 3. 1) Pure DLC, 2) 1.7%-Gd DLC, 3) 2.3%-Gd DLC, 4) 1.7%-Eu DLC, and 5) 2.4%-Eu DLC

#### 3.2 Lubricants

The base lubricant used was PAO8. Synthesis of trihexyltetradecylphosphonium bis(2-ethylhexyl) phosphate [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP] was conducted according to the procedure described in [208]. In brief, trihexyl(tetradecyl)phosphonium bromide (with a purity of 95%, obtained from

Strem chemicals) was combined with methanol and treated with Amberlite IRN78 (with a purity of 99.9%, obtained from Alfa Aesar) to obtain trihexyl(tetradecyl)phosphonium hydroxide. The resulting mixture was then filtered and subjected to a 3-day reaction with bis(2-ethylhexyl) hydrogen phosphate (obtained from TCI). Methanol and other volatile compounds were subsequently removed under reduced pressure (approximately 1070 Pa) and at a temperature of around -50 °C. The water content in [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP] was determined to be 0.07 % (equivalent to 700 ppm). The estimated purity of [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP] was  $\geq$  92 % based on nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy analysis. To prepare the lubricant containing PAO 8 and 1 wt.% of [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP], 1 g of [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP] was mixed with 99 g of PAO8 using an analytical balance [61].

### 3.3 Tribological Tests

The five DLC coated specimens undergo testing utilizing a block-on-ring configuration tribometer, under unidirectional sliding motion. The stationary block, consisting of the DLC coated specimens, is subjected to a constant applied load during the test and pressed against a rotating ring. The rotating ring is constructed of alloyed carbon steel (3415, AISI) with a hardness of 237 HV<sub>10</sub> (kgf/mm<sup>2</sup>) and has a dimension of Ø150 × 12 mm. The rotating ring is positioned at a 90° angle relative to its axis of rotation and has an initial surface roughness of Ra = 0.01  $\mu$ m. A schematic diagram of the block-on-ring configuration can be seen in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Schematic diagram of block-on-ring friction tribometer

The normal applied load and friction force between the block and the ring were continuously monitored throughout the testing process using two load cells, which facilitated real-time computation of the friction coefficient. A normal load of 25 N was applied during the test. The normal force load cell served as the input for normal force ( $F_N$ ) and a tangential force load cell measured the friction force ( $F_f$ ). The coefficient of friction ( $\mu$ ) was calculated by dividing  $F_f$  by  $F_N$ . A lubricant reservoir was utilized to keep the contact lubricated with lubricating oil. A radiation heating system was utilized for temperature control during the tests, enabling the execution of tests at various high temperatures in oil, which were 60 °C, 80 °C, and 100 °C in the study. The test setup can be seen in the Figure 5.



Figure 5. Block on ring test setup with all instruments

During tribological testing, three different lubricants were utilized, which were established as fully flooded with a homogenous film of lubricant that wetted the contact region. The rotation of the ring within the lubricant, created a constant and uniform film of several millimetres in thickness on the surface of the ring, with the oil being picked up by the rotating disk and supplied to the contact before flowing back to the lubricant housing. The tribometer utilized in this study, which is particularly suitable for low speeds, employed a lubrication supply system. Prior to the testing procedure, the surfaces of both the block and the disk were cleaned through ultrasonic cleaning in ethanol and dried in air. The standard deviation from the curves was utilized to calculate the error bars for the friction coefficient versus sliding distance.

The minimum film thicknesses were determined for the isothermal elastohydrodynamic lubrication conditions using the Hamrock and Dowson equation [209,210] given below (equation 1), which applies to linear contacts and various material combinations up to maximum pressures of 3 to 4 GPa [211].

$$\frac{h_0}{R'} = 3.63 \left(\frac{U\eta_0}{E'R'}\right)^{0.68} (\alpha E')^{0.49} \left(\frac{W}{E'R'^2}\right)^{-0.073} (1 - e^{-0.68k})$$
(1)

Where  $\alpha$  is the pressure-viscosity coefficient, R' is the reduced radius of curvature,  $\eta_0$  is the lubricant viscosity at atmospheric pressure and temperature, W is the applied load, E' is the reduced Young's modulus, U is the

sliding speed, and k is the ellipticity parameter which is given by the ratio of semiaxis in the transverse direction to the semiaxis in the direction of motion, k is infinite for a line contact as in the case of a block-on-ring configuration. These were the parameters taken into consideration in the calculation of the film thickness. The lubricant fluid was assumed to be compressible, and its viscosity-pressure behaviour was described by the Barus law given below (equation 2) in which the lubricant viscosity  $\eta_p$  at pressure p and temperature  $\theta$  was considered in the calculations.

$$\eta_p = \eta_0 e^{\alpha p} \tag{2}$$

To consider the effect of the surface roughness of both materials on the calculation of the film thickness, Tallian introduced a new parameter given below (equation 3) [212], which characterizes the ratio between the minimum film thickness and the combined surface roughness, represented by the symbol  $\lambda$ . The parameter  $\lambda$  is calculated as the ratio of the minimum film thickness to the composite surface roughness, where the surface roughness (Root Mean Square) of body A and body B is represented by  $\sigma_A$  and  $\sigma_B$ , respectively.

$$\lambda = \frac{h_0}{\sqrt{(\sigma_A^2 + \sigma_B^2)}} \tag{3}$$

The criterion for lubrication regime determination values are summarized below [213,214]. The analysis of the  $\lambda$  value reveals distinct regimes and their corresponding lubrication conditions:

#### $\lambda$ > 5: Complete hydrodynamic lubrication

 This regime indicates a lubrication condition where the lubricant film thickness is sufficient to entirely separate the surfaces, resulting in minimal wear and friction.

#### $3 < \lambda < 5$ : Asperity smoothing, minimum wear

 In this regime, the lubricant film thickness is moderate, allowing some contact between the surfaces. However, the pressure is high enough to deform the asperities, reducing wear and promoting smoother operation.

#### $1.5 < \lambda < 3$ : Asperity smoothing

• This regime represents a lubrication condition with a relatively thin lubricant film, allowing some contact between the surfaces. However, the pressure is insufficient to prevent direct contact between the asperities.

 $1 < \lambda < 1.5$ : Asperity smoothing, delamination

 Similar to the previous regime, this regime involves asperity smoothing but with an additional factor of delamination. Delamination refers to the separation of thin surface layers under specific conditions.

 $\lambda$  < 1: Macro-Plastic deformation

 The regime indicates a lubrication condition where the lubricant film thickness is extremely thin or absent, leading to direct contact between the surfaces. This regime is characterized by significant plastic deformation of the contacting asperities.

As previously discussed, increasing the lubricant viscosity leads to a transition from boundary to mixed and hydrodynamic lubrication regimes at lower speeds.

The acquisition of hardness and reduced Young's modulus was achieved through the process of nano-indentation, utilizing a Berkovich diamond indenter within the nano indenter device. To guarantee that the indentation depth would not exceed 10 % of the coating thickness, a maximum load of 10 mN, in accordance with the standard parameters of the CEMMPRE laboratory, was applied. The mechanical properties were determined by calculating the mean and standard deviation based on sixteen measurements that were conducted on each sample.

The various conditions of block on ring tribological test at different sliding speeds and sliding times can be found in Table 1. Conditions for block on ring tribological test. These conditions are specifically selected to plot the points for Stribeck curve. The rules are stated in the ASTM G77-17/98 (Standard Test Method for Ranking Resistance of Materials to Sliding Wear Using Block-on-Ring Wear Test).

#### Table 1. Conditions for block on ring tribological test

		1	2	3	4	5
	Potentiometer	1.6	4.9	11.2	24.7	45.5
ons	Sliding Speed (m/s)	0.02	0.07	0.18	0.40	0.74
nditi	Rotational speed (rpm)	4	13	32	64	127
Cor	Rotational speed (rps)	0.07	0.21	0.53	1.06	2.12
	Number of turns	100	250	500	1000	1000
	Sliding time (s)	1500	1181	943	942	471

### **4** Results and Discussion

#### 4.1 DLC Coating Analysis

The HiPIMS deposition technique was used to coat the samples, and the aspect of the DLCs coatings is shown in the Figure 6. Carbon clusters or a cauliflower-like structure can be observed in all five samples, which is a common characteristic of DLCs coatings. These clusters do not represent the actual grain structure, but rather the carbon-amorphous regions (we know it is carbon from the EDS analysis) [215–219]. It is evident that the size and shape of the carbon clusters depend on the deposition technique. Additionally, these regions with a high carbon content indicate the density of the film. Therefore, a denser film is achieved when the carbon clusters are smaller [220–222]. Consequently, all five samples (pure DLC, 1.7%-Gd DLC, 2.3%-Gd DLC, 1.7%-Eu DLC, and 2.4%-Eu DLC) exhibit a similar structure and thickness, indicating the uniform coating achieved through our HiPIMS process.



Figure 6. Examination of DLC coating structure under SEM.: (a) 2.3% Gd-DLC; (b) 2.4% Eu-DLC; (c) 1.7% Gd-DLC; (d) 1.7% Eu-DLC; (e) Pure DLC

To examine the detailed morphology of the coating's cross-section, SEM was used with a magnification of 25kX which can be seen Figure 7. The cross-sectional view revealed columnar and dense structures. At the top of these columnar structures, there are dome-shaped bumps resembling hats, which indicate the morphology of the cross-section. The adhesion between the substrate and the coating is improved by a chromium interlayer, which forms a compact structure. The thickness of all the coatings is similar, with the total film and interlayer thicknesses measuring approximately  $(1.7 \pm 0.1) \mu m$  and  $(0.45 \pm 0.05) \mu m$ , respectively, based on the measurement scale.



Figure 7. Examination of cross-sectional morphology of DLC coating under SEM

### 4.2 Viscosity of lubricants

To investigate the temperature responses of various ILs, a viscosity test was conducted from 100 °C to ambient temperature of 25 °C on both the lubricants with ionic liquids as additives. Different ionic liquids have distinct temperature responses due to variations in their structural features, including the size, symmetry, and presence of specific functional groups. Understanding these temperature-dependent behaviours is essential, therefore, In the study of lubricated contacts, the viscosity is considered a crucial factor as it influences the tribological characteristics of the lubricants [223].

Figure 8 and Figure 9 below shows the viscosity/temperature relation of both the lubricants with ionic liquids as additives. In this investigation, variations in viscosity were observed due to the utilization of differing temperatures in the tests as well as due to the different composition of ionic liquid additives.



Figure 8. Dynamic viscosity/temperature graph of PAO 8, PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[ $P_{66614}$ ][DEHP]} and PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]}



Comparatively, the viscosity of PAO 8 is 8% to 20% lower than its counterpart with the addition of ionic liquids  $\{[P_{66614}][DEHP]\}$  and  $\{[EMIM][DEP]\}$ . Even though just being at 1% the weight of the lubricant, it has some significant change in the viscosity and the action of lubricant of the surface. Of all the lubricants,  $\{[P_{66614}][DEHP]\}$  has highest viscosity, followed by  $\{[EMIM][DEP]\}$ . This is due to the different viscosities of the ionic liquids themselves. The viscosity of the ionic liquid is influenced by its structural

characteristics. The viscosity is enhanced as the side chain lengthens or as the cation's symmetry increases. Additionally, an increase in the number of branches leads to a corresponding increase in the viscosity [224].

Ionic liquid {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} has 7.6% higher viscosity at 60 °C compared to {[EMIM][DEP]} but the difference reduces to being negligible as the temperature increases. A slightly higher viscosity from the ionic liquids {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} and {[EMIM][DEP]} has benefited by extending some portion of the Stribeck curve in the mixed lubrication regime which will be discussed in the further section of Stribeck curves. The analysis revealed that different ionic liquids exhibit diverse temperature responses, primarily due to the structural variations of their constituent ions [225]. ILs with smaller, more symmetrical cations and anions tend to have higher melting points and exhibit less temperature dependence. In contrast, ILs composed of bulkier, asymmetric ions generally display lower melting points and a greater sensitivity to temperature variations [225].

Furthermore, the presence of specific functional groups in the IL structure can influence the temperature response [226]. For example, ILs containing hydrogen bond acceptors and donors exhibit increased ionic conductivity and can display significant changes in properties with temperature variations, including viscosity and solubility [226]. Additionally, the type and strength of intermolecular interactions within the IL, such as ion-ion interactions, ion-dipole interactions, and hydrogen bonding, contribute to the temperature-dependent behavior [227]. These interactions affect the ordering and dynamics of the ions, influencing the overall response to temperature changes.

#### 4.3 Mechanical characterization (Hardness and Young's Modulus)

Figure 10 and Figure 11 show, respectively, the hardness and Young's modulus for the five different DLC coatings. As seen in the Figure 5, the highest result of hardness was obtained for Gd-DLC with an atomic concentration of 1.7%, exhibiting a mean value of approximately 23 GPa, while the mean value for Eu-DLC with an atomic concentration of 2.4 % was found to be around 19 GPa and that of 2.3 % Gd-DLC is 20 GPa. The reduced Young's modulus of the DLC coatings was observed to be between 180 and 195 GPa and can be seen in Figure 6. These values of hardness and Young's modulus were determined to be comparable to those of pure DLC coatings produced using the same technique by Ji Cheng et al. [228]. Consequently, it was concluded that despite the addition of dopant elements, the mechanical properties of the coatings were not affected.



Figure 10. Hardness of coatings



Figure 11. Young's Modulus of coatings

The variations in hardness and Young's modulus can be attributed to morphological type, sp<sup>2</sup> or sp<sup>3</sup> hybridization, and structural evaluation through density analysis. The high hardness in DLC coatings can be achieved with a high proportion of sp<sup>3</sup> hybridization in the amorphous carbon matrix and a dense and compact structure in the DLC coating [229–232]. Nevertheless, a decrease in the sp<sup>3</sup>/sp<sup>2</sup> ratio results in a reduction of the hardness of DLC coatings [233].

#### 4.4 Tribological Test (Influence of the Temperature)

The results of the block on ring tribotest are divided into three groups based on the temperature (60 °C, 80 °C and 100 °C). In these three temperature groups we can find the specific coating along with which lubricant was tested. The calculation of the Hersey parameter was performed by multiplying the viscosity of the lubricating oil at various temperatures by the sliding speed applied during the tests and dividing the result by the normal force (25 N) per unit length (12 mm). The Stribeck curves were generated from the values of the coefficient of friction obtained from tests conducted at different sliding speeds and temperatures with different DLC coatings. The standard deviation values, as we will see, were found to be minimal for all points and showed a tendency to decrease with increasing sliding speed, thus only the average data set was presented. Analysis of these curves revealed the existence of three lubrication regimes: boundary, mixed, and hydrodynamic lubrication.

#### 4.4.1 Temperature of 60 °C

Table 2 presents the Tallian parameter along with the film thickness calculated from the Hamrock and Dowson equation for 60 °C. It is possible to observe that the PAO8 + 1 wt.% { $[P_{66614}][DEHP]$ } presents the highest film thickness and lambda parameter. This is followed by PAO8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]}.

60 °C						
	Velocity - u (m/s)	0.0241	0.0765	0.1916	0.3835	0.7671
PAO 8	Film Thickness - h <sub>0</sub> (m)	1.8E-08	3.94E- 08	7.37E- 08	1.18E- 07	1.89E- 07
	Tallian Parameter- λ	0.2946	0.6463	1.2067	1.9348	3.0997
PAO 8 + 1 wt.%	Film Thickness - h₀ (m)	1.97E- 08	4.32E- 08	8.06E- 08	1.29E- 07	2.07E- 07
{[P <sub>66614</sub> ][DEHP]}	Tallian Parameter - λ	0.3226	0.7077	1.3213	2.1184	3.3939
PAO 8 + 1 wt.%	Film Thickness - h₀ (m)	1.87E- 08	4.1E-08	7.65E- 08	1.23E- 07	1.96E- 07
{[EMIM][DEP]}	Tallian Parameter - λ	0.3058	0.6710	1.2528	2.0086	3.2180

Table 2. Tallian parameter and film thickness at 60 °C

Figure 12. PAO 8 at 60 , presents the evolution of the coefficient of friction with Hersey number (Stribeck curve) for the different DLC coatings under different lubricating conditions at 60  $^{\circ}$ C.





Figure 13. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} at 60 °C



There is 46.86 % of reduction in the coefficient of friction using ([EMIM][DEP]) as ionic liquid additive in PAO8 and the doped DLC with Gadolinium at a very low speed of (0.02 m/s) in boundary lubrication condition compared to the Pure DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]}. Specifically, ([EMIM][DEP]) has shown a significant consistency in lowering the friction levels. Pure DLC and ionic liquid additives comparatively show a contrasting behaviour with high CoF (0.0446), which is 47 % higher compared to the doped DLCs in similar conditions of 60 °C. This proves that the ionic liquid, along with the doped elements, have some interaction between them which creates a tribofilm and is preventing the asperity-asperity contact on the surface.

In elastohydrodynamic region, all the points converge, which suggests a uniform lubrication film thickness. The distinctive points are the first two, which are in boundary lubrication condition. The thickness of the lubrication film in the elastohydrodynamic regime ( $3 < \lambda < 5$ ) is thinner than the hydrodynamic regime ( $5 < \lambda$ ), and in the results, we don't find any point of  $\lambda$  parameter greater than 5, therefore it is in elastohydrodynamic regime. Consequently, the maintenance of an uninterrupted hydrodynamic film necessitates the elastic deflection of the

surfaces. Therefore, when studying elastohydrodynamic region, it becomes imperative to consider these deflections [234,235]. In the hydrodynamic lubrication regime, characterized by a lambda ratio greater than 5, the load is entirely supported by the lubricant film, and there is no contact between the asperities on the sliding surfaces [236,237].

In both the elastohydrodynamic and hydrodynamic regimes, as the speed escalates, the lubricating film may fail to match the pressure variations promptly, impeding the lubricant from adequately flowing into the contact area and forming a sufficiently thick fluid film. Consequently, this situation leads to an increase in friction [50,238]. Additionally, the viscosity of the lubricant commonly decreases as the temperature rises, which can occur occasionally during high sliding speeds due to the generation of heat resulting from friction, this will be represented further below for 80 and 100 °C.

#### 4.4.2 Temperature of 80 °C

80 °C						
	Velocity - u (m/s)	0.0241	0.0765	0.1916	0.3835	0.7671
PAO 8	Film Thickness - h₀ (m)	1.11E- 08	2.44E- 08	4.55E- 08	7.29E- 08	1.17E- 07
	Tallian Parameter- λ	0.1819	0.3991	0.7451	1.1946	1.9139
PAO 8 + 1 wt.%	Film Thickness - h <sub>0</sub> (m)	1.22E- 08	2.68E- 08	5.01E- 08	8.03E- 08	1.29E- 07
{[P <sub>66614</sub> ][DEHP]}	Tallian Parameter - λ	0.2002	0.4393	0.8202	1.3151	2.1070
PAO 8 + 1 wt.%	Film Thickness - h₀ (m)	1.18E- 08	2.59E- 08	4.83E- 08	7.74E- 08	1.24E- 07
{[EMIM][DEP]}	Tallian Parameter - λ	0.1931	0.4237	0.7910	1.2683	2.0319

Table 3. Tallian parameter and film thickness at 80 °C

In Table 3 at 80 °C, there is no more elastohydrodynamic lubrication regime in both the lubricants. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% { $[P_{66614}][DEHP]$ } outperforms other with

highest film thickness (1.29E-07 m) and Tallian parameter (2.1070) which is followed by PAO8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} at (2.0319). In this case of 80 °C there will be mostly delamination and asperity smoothing. As the velocity will further decrease it will result in macro plastic deformation.



Figure 15. PAO 8 at 80 °C



Figure 16. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} at 80 °C



Figure 17.	PAO 8 + 1	wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} @	at 80 °C
------------	-----------	----------------------	----------

From above figure it is possible to observe that the curves are shifted towards the left side. As the temperature is increasing the Stribeck curve is shifting towards the mixed lubrication regime. The significant role played by the mixed lubrication regime ( $1 < \lambda < 3$ ) in numerous close clearance machines cannot be understated. It encompasses a fusion of characteristics from both elastohydrodynamic lubrication and boundary lubrication. This signifies that while certain sections of the contact area are coated with a film of lubricant, other regions witness the sliding of peak asperities on the moving surfaces due to the absence of a separating liquid film. Engine components like piston rings, cams, and engine bearings frequently experience mixed lubrication. For system engineers, a comprehensive understanding of mixed lubrication is of utmost

importance, as it represents the most demanding lubrication regime to accurately predict friction. This complexity arises from the intricate interplay between surface topography and the thickness of the oil film [234,239,240].

Gadolinium doped DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]}. At 80 °C, the CoF has shown a 30 % substantial decrease if compared to Pure DLC. The tribosystem composed of 2.4% Europium doped DLC also showed a similar result. 2.4% Gadolinium doped DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} perform better than the Europium doped DLC. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} shows consistent results with all 5 DLC coatings with 2.3% Gd DLC and 2.4% Eu DLC being the best performing coatings. PAO 8 + 1% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} and PAO 8 + 1% {[EMIM][DEP]} perform better with 20% extended Stribeck curve in mixed lubrication regime as compared to pure PAO 8.

#### 4.4.3 Temperature of 100 °C

It is an extreme condition with all the points in boundary lubrication regime with just last point on the brink of mixed lubrication which can be seen from the calculated Tallian parameters in Table 4. Certainly, in this case there will be asperity-asperity contact with macro plastic deformation on the surface.

100 °C						
	Velocity - u (m/s)	0.0241	0.0765	0.1916	0.3835	0.7671
PAO 8	Film Thickness - h₀ (m)	6.77E- 09	1.49E- 08	2.77E- 08	4.45E- 08	7.12E- 08
	Tallian Parameter- λ	0.1109	0.2433	0.4543	0.7284	1.1670
PAO 8 + 1 wt.%	Film Thickness - h₀ (m)	8.1E-09	1.78E- 08	3.32E- 08	5.32E- 08	8.52E- 08
{[P <sub>66614</sub> ][DEHP]}	Tallian Parameter - λ	0.1327	0.2911	0.5435	0.8714	1.3961
PAO 8 + 1 wt.%	Film Thickness - h₀ (m)_	7.92E- 09	1.74E- 08	3.25E- 08	5.2E-08	8.34E- 08
{[EMIM][DEP]}	Tallian Parameter - λ	0.1298	0.2848	0.5317	0.8525	1.3658

Table 4. Tallian parameter and film thickness at 100 °C



Figure 18. PAO 8 at 100 °C



Figure 19. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} at 100 °C



Figure 20. PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} at 100 °C

The boundary lubrication regime, with a coefficient  $\lambda$  less than 1, exhibits the feature of load support by the minute surface irregularities, without the presence of a continuous film of lubricant. The interaction between these irregularities can lead to substantial levels of friction and wear, ultimately diminishing the operational life of the system [234,237,241,242] and at 100 °C it is clearly evident. 2.3 % Gd DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} and PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} at 100 °C has boundary friction of just 0.0379, compared that to with Pure DLC which is 0.0505, a total of 25 % improved performance in coefficient of friction with ionic liquids and doping.

2.4 % Eu DLC performs better with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} at 100 Deg. Celsius whereas, pure DLC has the worst performing trend in all the three lubricants. Even at very high temperatures of 100 °C the coefficient of friction has no drastic increase which suggests that the DLC coatings are interacting with lubricants to keep the friction as low as possible. Out of all 2.3 % Gd DLC along with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} has proven to be the best combination with the least coefficient of friction. Ionic liquid additives in PAO 8 + 1% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} and PAO 8 + 1% {[EMIM][DEP]} extend the Stribeck curve in the mixed lubrication regime by 21% compared to pure PAO 8.

When comparing the Stribeck curves of different films, it was found that adding the ionic liquid to the PAO 8 lubricant generally decreased the coefficient of friction (CoF) at the lowest achievable sliding speed. This effect was particularly significant for the Gd-doped DLC film. The Eu-DLC film exhibited improved performance compared to the pure DLC film when the ionic liquid was present. The primary factor responsible for the reduced CoF in Eu-DLC and Gd-DLC films is the formation of adsorbed layers. These layers facilitate movement between two sliding surfaces due to their low shear. Additionally, the formation of a protective tribofilm on metal surfaces, resulting from chemical reactions between ionic liquids and the contacting surfaces during friction, is another contributing factor discussed [80,243]. As per the proposed mechanism for adsorbed layers, the negatively charged part of ionic liquids is attracted to the positively charged metal surface, causing adsorption on the surface [244]. Another anionic entity can adsorb the cationic component, resulting in the formation of single- or multi-layered adsorbed structures on the surface. These structures generate a film on the metal surface and possess weak bonding between the layers, which aids in decreasing friction and facilitating movement between the surfaces in contact [80,243,245,246].

#### 4.5 Wear Mechanism Characterization

SEM-EDS was used to assess the impact of incorporating an ionic liquid (IL) as an additive on the characteristics of diamond-like carbon (DLC) thin films. SEM-EDS images of Gd-DLC and Eu-DLC films are depicted in Figures 21-27. These maps reveal that the thin film was partially removed in certain regions, and the presence of chromium, originating from the interlayer, was detected. At the location of wear, we can clearly see the distinction of the elements from each other.

Figure 21 and Figure 22 shows, the EDS X Ray mapping which gives us the details of the elements for 2.3% Gd DLC sample with PAO8 + 1 wt.%  $\{[P_{66614}][DEHP]\}$ . The sample was kept constant for the lubricant and was rotated at 45-degree angle for the three temperature ranges, this method was adopted to maintain the steady state conditions. The SEM-EDS analysis was done at the end of performing all the experiments, but it is difficult to contemplate the temperature regions. Therefore, the sample results represent an overall view of the entire temperature range.

In the results we can see, Chromium (purple) is the interlayer of CrN and Carbon (yellow) is from the DLC coating, Gadolinium (pink) is the dopant, Phosphorous (green) is from the ionic liquid. Calculation of the wear rate is not possible as the wear is not uniform and is difficult to identify a wear track. However, from a general overview in the SEM, Gd-DLC has some significantly visible wear, whereas Eu-DLC has less to no wear on the samples. A study done by M Sadeghi. et al. shows the similar results found in the optical microscopy images of different lubricant films along with SEM-EDS images, the wear reduction is clearly evident by using ionic liquids as additives and doping of DLC coatings [62].



Figure 21. EDS of 2.3% Gd-DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} and SEM image of the same in top right corner



(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) Figure 22. Element mapping of the Gd-DLC thin film paired with PAO 8 + 1 wt. % {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} : (a) C; (b) O; (c) Cr; (d) Gd and (e) P

The 2.4% Eu DLC with PAO8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} have significantly performed better with the least CoF even at the extreme conditions of 100 °C, it can also be seen in Figure 23 the SEM image that the coating has no wear but a light bruise/scratch.



Figure 23. Scratch/Wear pattern on 2.4% Eu DLC coating with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]}

The SEM-EDS technique was used to assess the impact of IL with 2.3% Gd-DLC and 2.4% Eu-DLC. On 2.4% Eu-DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% { $[P_{66614}]$ [DEHP]} sample, oxides were found on the surface and there were no significant wear marks. This suggested the formation of tribofilm through oxides, although there is no direct evidence of tribofilm. In a study by Barnhill et al. [1], it was discovered that the lubricants containing [ $P_{66614}$ ][DEHP] had a tribofilm containing oxygen and phosphorus. This finding suggests that the tribofilm originated from the [ $P_{66614}$ ][DEHP]. In EDS X ray map in Figure 24 and Figure 25, we can distinctly see the oxygen and a very slight presence of phosphorous, from which we can conclude that phosphorous based ionic liquid reacted with the surface of the Europium doped DLC coating to a form a tribofilm.



Figure 24. EDS image of oxides on the 2.4% Eu-DLC surface PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]}



Figure 25. EDS X Ray map of oxides on the 2.4% Eu-DLC surface PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} surface: (a) C; (b) O; (c) Eu; (d) Cr; and (e) P



Figure 26. EDS image of oxides on the 2.3% Gd-DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]}



Figure 27. EDS X Ray map of oxides on the 2.3% Gd-DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} surface: (a) C; (b) Cr; (c) P; (d) O; and (e) Gd.

Gd-DLC also forms a tribofilm which can be inferred from EDS X ray map in Figure 26 and Figure 27, oxides were found on the surface near the wear marks. This suggests the formation of tribofilm through oxides. In EDS X ray map we can distinctly see the oxygen and presence of phosphorous, from which we can conclude that phosphorous based ionic liquid reacted with the surface of the Gadolinium doped DLC coating to a form a tribofilm.

Research was conducted by Qu J. et al. on  $[P_{66614}]$ [DEHP] and its interaction with a steel surface. The study, carried out using TEM by Qu J. et al., displayed a cross-section of the region just below the wear mark, which was lubricated by PAO+IL. The cross-section revealed a two-layer structure consisting of a top film at the boundary (120-180 nm) and a deeper zone (0.5-0.8  $\mu$ m) exhibiting plastic deformation and a refined grain structure. The IL additive is believed to provide anti-scuffing and anti-wear properties through

this protective boundary film. When the boundary film was observed at a higher magnification, it exhibited an amorphous matrix containing small nanoparticles (1-10 nm in diameter). The electron diffraction pattern confirmed the presence of a nanocomposite phase structure. EDS element mapping indicated significant concentrations of P, O, and Fe in the boundary film, resulting from the interactions between the IL and the metal surface [247]. Similarly, our EDS elemental mapping shows P, O, and Eu/Gd resulting from the interactions between the IL and the coatings.

## **5** Conclusions

In summary, this study investigated the tribological performance of rare earth element-doped diamond-like carbon (DLC) coatings in the presence of ionic liquid additives under different temperature conditions. DLC coatings have been considered as a sustainable solution for reducing frictional losses in mechanical systems due to their excellent tribological and mechanical properties. However, pure DLC coatings are inert and do not interact effectively with conventional lubricants, resulting in wear and tear. To address this limitation, doping DLC coatings with metals has shown promise in enhancing their reactivity with lubricants. Ionic liquids have emerged as a potential solution due to their adjustable properties for specific applications and their ability to form protective tribofilms.

The study specifically examined the interaction between Europium and Gadolinium dopants in DLC coatings and ionic liquid additives in Polyalphaolefin 8 (PAO8). Two different lubricants were used in the experimental investigation to evaluate the tribological performance of the coatings under three different temperature conditions.

The results demonstrate that both ionic liquid additives can improve the tribological performance of DLC coatings. However, the optimal temperature range for each coating differs depending on the doping element and the type of ionic liquid used.

At 60 °C, the combination of 2.3% Gadolinium-doped DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} showed the best results with the lowest coefficient of friction (CoF) 52.6% less than pure PAO 8, followed by 2.4% Europium-doped DLC. The addition of {[EMIM][DEP]} resulted in a more significant reduction in the coefficient of friction compared to {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]}, although the latter showed a lower wear rate (wear rate from the general overview from the SEM-EDS analysis as the calculation of wear rate is not possible as explained earlier). The 2.3% Gadolinium-doped DLC and 2.4% Europium-doped DLC coatings consistently exhibited superior tribological performance under all conditions compared to the Pure DLC, highlighting the beneficial effects of rare earth metal doping.

Pure DLC can be clearly seen as worst performer in all the graphs at all the temperatures. In PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} at 60 °C we can see the clear distinction of Pure DLC and doped DLC coatings. CoF reduction with ionic liquid and doped DLC is 39% lower compared to pure DLC and PAO 8.

Nevertheless, as we move in the higher temperature range, it has significant reduction in coefficient of friction, which is also in line with prior research that on iron/steel substrates, [P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP] demonstrates commendable performance at elevated temperatures [63–65].

At 80 °C, both dopants with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[EMIM][DEP]} showed a substantial decrease in the coefficient of friction compared to Pure DLC. The lubricant plays a crucial role in providing the necessary film between the contacting surfaces, and the ionic liquid additives enhance the overall performance of the coatings. The 2.4% Gadolinium-doped DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} outperformed the Europium-doped DLC under these conditions. PAO 8 + 1% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} and PAO 8 + 1% {[EMIM][DEP]} perform better with 20% extended Stribeck curve in mixed lubrication regime as compared to pure PAO 8. Also, the results of Omiya et al. are in good harmony with this study, it also revealed that as the concentration of the dopant increases in the DLC coatings, there is significant improvement with reduction in CoF and wear rate [61].

In extreme conditions of 100 °C, all the points were within the boundary lubrication regime, except the last point, which was marginally in the mixed lubrication regime. The DLC coatings, even at high temperatures, demonstrated low coefficients of friction, indicating their effective interaction with the lubricants. Among all the combinations, the 2.3% Gadolinium-doped DLC with PAO 8 + 1 wt.% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} exhibited the best performance with the lowest coefficient of friction. Ionic liquid additives in PAO 8 + 1% {[P<sub>66614</sub>][DEHP]} and PAO 8 + 1% {[EMIM][DEP]} extend the Stribeck curve in the mixed lubrication regime by 21% compared to pure PAO 8. The most feasible answer to these results is that ionic liquids maintain their viscosity index and properties quite well as compared to base oil, moreover from the research done by Fontes et al., it indicated the high performance is derived by using the combination of Eu-DLC and Gd-DLC with the ionic liquids [60].

The SEM-EDS analysis confirms the performance of the Eu-DLC with a very light scratch whereas the Gd-DLC has some wear marks. The element in the EDS also shows the formation of oxides, which strongly suggest that there is interaction between the coatings and the ionic liquids. The prior research of pure PAO 8 as reference and PAO 8 additivated with  $\{P_{66614}][DEHP]\}$  by M. Sadeghi has shown the similar results with drastic reduction in wear and CoF [62].

Overall, the findings of this study highlight the potential of rare earth element doped DLC coatings and ionic liquid additives for improving tribological performance in various temperature conditions. The results contribute to the understanding of the interactions between DLC coatings, dopants, and lubricants, providing valuable insights for the development of advanced lubrication systems with enhanced friction and wear properties.

# References

- Holmberg, K.; Erdemir, A. The Impact of Tribology on Energy Use and CO2 Emission Globally and in Combustion Engine and Electric Cars. *Tribol Int* 2019, 135, 389–396.
- 2. Holmberg, K.; Andersson, P.; Erdemir, A. Global Energy Consumption Due to Friction in Passenger Cars. *Tribol Int* **2012**, *47*, 221–234.
- 3. Zichao, L.; Bin, S.; Fanghong, S.; Zhiming, Z.; Songshou, G. Diamond-Coated Tube Drawing Die Optimization Using Finite Element Model Simulation and Response Surface Methodology. *Proc Inst Mech Eng B J Eng Manuf* **2014**, *228*, 1432–1441.
- Santiago, J.A.; Fernández-Martínez, I.; Sánchez-López, J.C.; Rojas, T.C.; Wennberg, A.; Bellido-González, V.; Molina-Aldareguia, J.M.; Monclús, M.A.; González-Arrabal, R. Tribomechanical Properties of Hard Cr-Doped DLC Coatings Deposited by Low-Frequency HiPIMS. *Surf Coat Technol* 2020, 382, 124899.
- 5. Martins, P.S.; Pires, S.S.; da Silva, E.R.; Vieira, V.F.; Ba, E.C.T.; Dias, C.A.R. Tribological Aspects of the Diamond-like Carbon Film Applied to Different Surfaces of AISI M2 Steel. *Wear* **2022**, *506*, 204469.
- 6. Yue, Z.; Fan, X.; Wang, Y.; Li, H.; Zhang, J.; Zhu, M. Fretting Behaviors of Self-Mated Diamond-like Carbon Films: The Evolution of Fretting Regime and Transfer Film. *Carbon N Y* **2023**, *203*, 695–705.
- 7. Santhosh, N.; Shankar, G.; Nunthavarawong, P. Mechanical and Tribological Performance of Diamond-Like Carbon Coatings: An Overview. *Diamond-Like Carbon Coatings* **2022**, 255–274.
- 8. Tasdemir, H.A.; Tokoroyama, T.; Kousaka, H.; Umehara, N.; Mabuchi, Y. Friction and Wear Performance of Boundary-Lubricated DLC/DLC Contacts in Synthetic Base Oil. *Procedia Eng* **2013**, *68*, 518–524.
- 9. Kumar, A.; Kumar, M.; Tailor, S. Self-Lubricating Composite Coatings: A Review of Deposition Techniques and Material Advancement. *Mater Today Proc* **2023**.
- 10. Zia, A.W.; Zhou, Z.; Li, L.K.-Y. Structural, Mechanical, and Tribological Characteristics of Diamond-like Carbon Coatings. In *Nanomaterials-Based Coatings*; Elsevier, 2019; pp. 171–194.
- 11. Carbon Based Films—Classification and Designations ISO 20523:2017, The International Organization for Standardization, Vernier: Geneva, Switzerland, 2017;
- 12. Erdemir, A. Review of Engineered Tribological Interfaces for Improved Boundary Lubrication. *Tribol Int* **2005**, *38*, 249–256.

- Neville, A.; Morina, A.; Haque, T.; Voong, M. Compatibility between Tribological Surfaces and Lubricant Additives—How Friction and Wear Reduction Can Be Controlled by Surface/Lube Synergies. *Tribol Int* 2007, 40, 1680–1695.
- 14. Velkavrh, I.; Kalin, M.; Vizintin, J. The Performance and Mechanisms of DLC-Coated Surfaces in Contact with Steel in Boundary-Lubrication Conditions: A Review. *Strojniški vestnik* **2008**, *54*, 189–206.
- 15. Hsu, S.M.; Gates, R.S. Boundary Lubricating Films: Formation and Lubrication Mechanism. *Tribol Int* **2005**, *38*, 305–312.
- Suzuki, A.; Shinka, Y.; Masuko, M. Tribological Characteristics of Imidazolium-Based Room Temperature Ionic Liquids under High Vacuum. *Tribol Lett* 2007, 27, 307–313.
- 17. Bermúdez, M.-D.; Jiménez, A.-E.; Sanes, J.; Carrión, F.-J. Ionic Liquids as Advanced Lubricant Fluids. *Molecules* **2009**, *14*, 2888–2908.
- Somers, A.E.; Khemchandani, B.; Howlett, P.C.; Sun, J.; MacFarlane, D.R.; Forsyth, M. Ionic Liquids as Antiwear Additives in Base Oils: Influence of Structure on Miscibility and Antiwear Performance for Steel on Aluminum. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2013, 5, 11544–11553.
- 19. Zhou, Y.; Dyck, J.; Graham, T.W.; Luo, H.; Leonard, D.N.; Qu, J. Ionic Liquids Composed of Phosphonium Cations and Organophosphate, Carboxylate, and Sulfonate Anions as Lubricant Antiwear Additives. *Langmuir* **2014**, *30*, 13301–13311.
- Barnhill, W.C.; Qu, J.; Luo, H.; Meyer III, H.M.; Ma, C.; Chi, M.; Papke, B.L. Phosphonium-Organophosphate Ionic Liquids as Lubricant Additives: Effects of Cation Structure on Physicochemical and Tribological Characteristics. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2014, 6, 22585–22593.
- 21. Barnhill, W.C.; Luo, H.; Meyer, H.M.; Ma, C.; Chi, M.; Papke, B.L.; Qu, J. Tertiary and Quaternary Ammonium-Phosphate Ionic Liquids as Lubricant Additives. *Tribol Lett* **2016**, *63*, 1–11.
- 22. Minami, I.; Inada, T.; Sasaki, R.; Nanao, H. Tribo-Chemistry of Phosphonium-Derived Ionic Liquids. *Tribol Lett* **2010**, *40*, 225–235.
- Somers, A.E.; Biddulph, S.M.; Howlett, P.C.; Sun, J.; MacFarlane, D.R.; Forsyth, M. A Comparison of Phosphorus and Fluorine Containing IL Lubricants for Steel on Aluminium. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* 2012, 14, 8224–8231.
- 24. Sharma, V.; Doerr, N.; Aswath, P.B. Chemical–Mechanical Properties of Tribofilms and Their Relationship to Ionic Liquid Chemistry. *RSC Adv* **2016**, *6*, 22341–22356.
- 25. Verma, D.K.; Dewangan, Y.; Singh, A.K.; Mishra, R.; Susan, M.A.B.H.; Salim, R.; Taleb, M.; El Hajjaji, F.; Berdimurodov, E. Ionic Liquids as Green and

Smart Lubricant Application: An Overview. *Ionics (Kiel)* **2022**, *28*, 4923–4932, doi:10.1007/s11581-022-04699-w.

- Wang, Y.-L.; Li, B.; Sarman, S.; Mocci, F.; Lu, Z.-Y.; Yuan, J.; Laaksonen, A.; Fayer, M.D. Microstructural and Dynamical Heterogeneities in Ionic Liquids. *Chem Rev* **2020**, *120*, 5798–5877, doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev.9b00693.
- 27. Groover, M.P. Fundamentals of Modern Manufacturing: Materials, *Processes, and Systems*; John Wiley & Sons, 2020; ISBN 1119722012.
- Tu, W.; Chat, K.; Szklarz, G.; Laskowski, L.; Grzybowska, K.; Paluch, M.; Richert, R.; Adrjanowicz, K. Dynamics of Pyrrolidinium-Based Ionic Liquids under Confinement. II. The Effects of Pore Size, Inner Surface, and Cationic Alkyl Chain Length. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C* 2019, 124, 5395– 5408.
- 29. Wang, Y.; Li, L. Uncovering the Underlying Mechanisms Governing the Solidlike Layering of Ionic Liquids (ILs) on Mica. *Langmuir* **2020**, *36*, 2743–2756.
- Kong, Q.; Zheng, S.S.; Liu, T.Q.; Nie, Y.; Song, K.D. Evaluation of Ionic Liquid "Greenness"-Cytotoxicity of Ionic Liquids. In Proceedings of the IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering; IOP Publishing, 2019; Vol. 592, p. 012031.
- Xiao, H.; Guo, D.; Liu, S.; Pan, G.; Lu, X. Film Thickness of Ionic Liquids under High Contact Pressures as a Function of Alkyl Chain Length. *Tribol Lett* 2011, 41, 471–477.
- 32. Zhou, F.; Liang, Y.; Liu, W. Ionic Liquid Lubricants: Designed Chemistry for Engineering Applications. *Chem Soc Rev* **2009**, *38*, 2590–2599.
- Jiménez, A.E.; Bermúdez, M.D.; Iglesias, P.; Carrión, F.J.; Martínez-Nicolás, G. 1-N-Alkyl-3-Methylimidazolium Ionic Liquids as Neat Lubricants and Lubricant Additives in Steel–Aluminium Contacts. *Wear* 2006, 260, 766– 782.
- 34. Qu, J.; Truhan, J.J.; Dai, S.; Luo, H.; Blau, P.J. Ionic Liquids with Ammonium Cations as Lubricants or Additives. *Tribol Lett* **2006**, *22*, 207–214.
- 35. Minami, I.; Kita, M.; Kubo, T.; Nanao, H.; Mori, S. The Tribological Properties of Ionic Liquids Composed of Trifluorotris (Pentafluoroethyl) Phosphate as a Hydrophobic Anion. *Tribol Lett* **2008**, *30*, 215–223.
- Shah, F.U.; Glavatskih, S.; MacFarlane, D.R.; Somers, A.; Forsyth, M.; Antzutkin, O.N. Novel Halogen-Free Chelated Orthoborate–Phosphonium Ionic Liquids: Synthesis and Tribophysical Properties. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* 2011, 13, 12865–12873.
- 37. Somers, A.E.; Biddulph, S.M.; Howlett, P.C.; Sun, J.; MacFarlane, D.R.; Forsyth, M. A Comparison of Phosphorus and Fluorine Containing IL
Lubricants for Steel on Aluminium. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2012**, *14*, 8224–8231.

- 38. Somers, A.E.; Howlett, P.C.; Sun, J.; MacFarlane, D.R.; Forsyth, M. Phosphonium Ionic Liquids as Lubricants for Aluminium-Steel. *Tribology Des* **2010**, *66*, 273–283.
- 39. Itoh, T.; Watanabe, N.; Inada, K.; Ishioka, A.; Hayase, S.; Kawatsura, M.; Minami, I.; Mori, S. Design of Alkyl Sulfate Ionic Liquids for Lubricants. *Chem Lett* **2009**, *38*, 64–65.
- 40. Dupont, J.; Suarez, P.A.Z.; Umpierre, A.P.; Souza, R.F. de Pd (II)-Dissolved in Ionic Liquids: A Recyclable Catalytic System for the Selective Biphasic Hydrogenation of Dienes to Monoenes. *J Braz Chem Soc* **2000**, *11*, 293–297.
- 41. Naveed, T.; Zahid, R.; Mufti, R.A.; Waqas, M.; Hanif, M.T. A Review on Tribological Performance of Ionic Liquids as Additives to Bio Lubricants. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part J: Journal of Engineering Tribology* **2021**, 235, 1782–1806.
- Jelínek, M.; Smetana, K.; Kocourek, T.; Dvořánková, B.; Zemek, J.; Remsa, J.; Luxbacher, T. Biocompatibility and Sp3/Sp2 Ratio of Laser Created DLC Films. *Materials Science and Engineering: B* 2010, 169, 89–93, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mseb.2010.01.010.
- Jelínek, M.; Kocourek, T.; Remsa, J.; Mikšovský, J.; Zemek, J.; Smetana, K.; Dvořánková, B.; Luxbacher, T. Diamond/Graphite Content and Biocompatibility of DLC Films Fabricated by PLD. *Applied Physics A* 2010, 101, 579–583, doi:10.1007/s00339-010-5912-9.
- Khanmohammadi, H.; Wijanarko, W.; Cruz, S.; Evaristo, M.; Espallargas, N. Triboelectrochemical Friction Control of W-and Ag-Doped DLC Coatings in Water–Glycol with Ionic Liquids as Lubricant Additives. *RSC Adv* 2022, *12*, 3573–3583.
- 45. Forsberg, P.; Gustavsson, F.; Renman, V.; Hieke, A.; Jacobson, S. Performance of DLC Coatings in Heated Commercial Engine Oils. *Wear* **2013**, *304*, 211–222.
- Kosarieh, S.; Morina, A.; Lainé, E.; Flemming, J.; Neville, A. The Effect of MoDTC-Type Friction Modifier on the Wear Performance of a Hydrogenated DLC Coating. *Wear* 2013, *302*, 890–898.
- 47. Kalin, M.; Kogovšek, J.; Remškar, M. Nanoparticles as Novel Lubricating Additives in a Green, Physically Based Lubrication Technology for DLC Coatings. *Wear* **2013**, *303*, 480–485.
- 48. Velkavrh, I.; Kalin, M. Effect of Base Oil Lubrication in Comparison with Non-Lubricated Sliding in Diamond-like Carbon Contacts. *Tribology-Materials, Surfaces & Interfaces* **2011**, *5*, 53–58.

- 49. Kalin, M.; Velkavrh, I.; Vižintin, J.; Ožbolt, L. Review of Boundary Lubrication Mechanisms of DLC Coatings Used in Mechanical Applications. *Meccanica* **2008**, *43*, 623–637.
- Kalin, M.; Velkavrh, I. Non-Conventional Inverse-Stribeck-Curve Behaviour and Other Characteristics of DLC Coatings in All Lubrication Regimes. *Wear* 2013, 297, 911–918.
- Balestra, R.M.; Castro, A.M.G.; Evaristo, M.; Escudeiro, A.; Mutafov, P.; Polcar, T.; Cavaleiro, A. Carbon-Based Coatings Doped by Copper: Tribological and Mechanical Behavior in Olive Oil Lubrication. *Surf Coat Technol* 2011, 205, S79–S83.
- 52. Manninen, N.K.; Ribeiro, F.; Escudeiro, A.; Polcar, T.; Carvalho, S.; Cavaleiro, A. Influence of Ag Content on Mechanical and Tribological Behavior of DLC Coatings. *Surf Coat Technol* **2013**, *232*, 440–446.
- Bociaga, D.; Komorowski, P.; Batory, D.; Szymanski, W.; Olejnik, A.; Jastrzebski, K.; Jakubowski, W. Silver-Doped Nanocomposite Carbon Coatings (Ag-DLC) for Biomedical Applications–Physiochemical and Biological Evaluation. *Appl Surf Sci* 2015, 355, 388–397.
- Voevodin, A.A.; Capano, M.A.; Laube, S.J.P.; Donley, M.S.; Zabinski, J.S. Design of a Ti/TiC/DLC Functionally Gradient Coating Based on Studies of Structural Transitions in Ti–C Thin Films. *Thin Solid Films* 1997, 298, 107– 115.
- 55. Corbella, C.; Vives, M.; Pinyol, A.; Bertran, E.; Canal, C.; Polo, M.C.; Andújar, J.L. Preparation of Metal (W, Mo, Nb, Ti) Containing AC: H Films by Reactive Magnetron Sputtering. *Surf Coat Technol* **2004**, *177*, 409–414.
- 56. Zhao, F.; Li, H.; Ji, L.; Wang, Y.; Zhou, H.; Chen, J. Ti-DLC Films with Superior Friction Performance. *Diam Relat Mater* **2010**, *19*, 342–349.
- 57. Evaristo, M.; Polcar, T.; Cavaleiro, A. Tribological Behaviour of W-alloyed Carbon-based Coatings in Dry and Lubricated Sliding Contact. *Lubrication Science* **2014**, *26*, 428–439.
- Ming, M.Y.; Jiang, X.; Piliptsou, D.G.; Zhuang, Y.; Rogachev, A. V; Rudenkov, A.S.; Balmakou, A. Chromium-Modified AC Films with Advanced Structural, Mechanical and Corrosive-Resistant Characteristics. *Appl Surf Sci* 2016, 379, 424–432.
- 59. Wongpanya, P.; Silawong, P.; Photongkam, P. Adhesion and Corrosion of Al–N Doped Diamond-like Carbon Films Synthesized by Filtered Cathodic Vacuum Arc Deposition. *Ceram Int* **2022**, *48*, 20743–20759.
- 60. Fontes, M.A.; Serra, R.G.H.; Fernandes, F.D.; Cavaleiro Rodrigues de Carvalho, A.A.; Ferreira, F.E. de S. Comparison of Mechanical and Tribological Properties of Diamond-like Carbon Coatings Doped with

Europium and Gadolinium Produced by HiPIMS. *Proc Inst Mech Eng B J Eng Manuf* **2022**, 09544054221136528, doi:10.1177/09544054221136528.

- 61. Omiya, T.; Fontes, M.; Vuchkov, T.; Cruz, S.; Cavaleiro, A.; Ferreira, F. Tribological Performance of Gd-DLC and Eu-DLC Coatings in the Presence of Synthetic Oils Containing Ionic Liquid Additives. *Tribol Lett* **2023**, *71*, 65.
- 62. Sadeghi, M.; Omiya, T.; Fernandes, F.; Vilhena, L.; Ramalho, A.; Ferreira, F. Tribological Behavior of Doped DLC Coatings in the Presence of Ionic Liquid Additive under Different Lubrication Regimes. *Coatings* **2023**, *13*, 891.
- 63. Qu, J.; Bansal, D.G.; Yu, B.; Howe, J.Y.; Luo, H.; Dai, S.; Li, H.; Blau, P.J.; Bunting, B.G.; Mordukhovich, G. Antiwear Performance and Mechanism of an Oil-Miscible Ionic Liquid as a Lubricant Additive. *ACS Appl Mater Interfaces* **2012**, *4*, 997–1002.
- 64. Qu, J.; Luo, H.; Chi, M.; Ma, C.; Blau, P.J.; Dai, S.; Viola, M.B. Comparison of an Oil-Miscible Ionic Liquid and ZDDP as a Lubricant Anti-Wear Additive. *Tribol Int* **2014**, *71*, 88–97.
- Yu, B.; Bansal, D.G.; Qu, J.; Sun, X.; Luo, H.; Dai, S.; Blau, P.J.; Bunting, B.G.; Mordukhovich, G.; Smolenski, D.J. Oil-Miscible and Non-Corrosive Phosphonium-Based Ionic Liquids as Candidate Lubricant Additives. *Wear* 2012, 289, 58–64.
- Li, Z.; Dolocan, A.; Morales-Collazo, O.; Sadowski, J.T.; Celio, H.; Chrostowski, R.; Brennecke, J.F.; Mangolini, F. Lubrication Mechanism of Phosphonium Phosphate Ionic Liquid in Nanoscale Single-asperity Sliding Contacts. *Adv Mater Interfaces* 2020, *7*, 2000426.
- 67. Okubo, H.; Watanabe, S.; Tadokoro, C.; Sasaki, S. Effects of Concentration of Zinc Dialkyldithiophosphate on the Tribological Properties of Tetrahedral Amorphous Carbon Films in Presence of Organic Friction Modifiers. *Tribol Int* **2016**, *94*, 446–457.
- Okubo, H.; Watanabe, S.; Tadokoro, C.; Sasaki, S. Effects of Structure of Zinc Dialkyldithiophosphates on Tribological Properties of Tetrahedral Amorphous Carbon f Ilm under Boundary Lubrication. *Tribol Int* 2016, *98*, 26–40.
- 69. Okubo, H.; Tadokoro, C.; Sasaki, S. Tribological Properties of a Tetrahedral Amorphous Carbon (Ta-C) Film under Boundary Lubrication in the Presence of Organic Friction Modifiers and Zinc Dialkyldithiophosphate (ZDDP). *Wear* **2015**, *332*, 1293–1302.
- 70. Kawada, S.; Watanabe, S.; Tadokoro, C.; Sasaki, S. Effects of Alkyl Chain Length of Sulfate and Phosphate Anion-Based Ionic Liquids on Tribochemical Reactions. *Tribol Lett* **2018**, *66*, 1–9.

- 71. Kawada, S.; Watanabe, S.; Sasaki, S.; Miyatake, M. Tribochemical Reactions of Halogen-Free Ionic Liquids on Nascent Steel Surface. *Recent advances in ionic liquids. IntechOpen* **2018**, 47–65.
- 72. Taokaew, S.; Kriangkrai, W. Recent Progress in Processing Cellulose Using Ionic Liquids as Solvents. *Polysaccharides* **2022**, *3*, 671–691.
- Hu, D.; Xiao, L.; Li, L.; Zhong, C.; Ju, X.; Yan, L.; Wu, T.; Qing, M.; Hu, Z. Effects of Ionic Liquid 1-Ethyl-3-Methylimidazolium Diethylphosphate on Cellulase Produced by Paenibacillus Sp. LLZ1. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2016, 4, 4922–4926.
- Dubey, S.; Bharmoria, P.; Gehlot, P.S.; Agrawal, V.; Kumar, A.; Mishra, S. 1-Ethyl-3-Methylimidazolium Diethylphosphate Based Extraction of Bioplastic "Polyhydroxyalkanoates" from Bacteria: Green and Sustainable Approach. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2018, 6, 766–773.
- Valente, A.J.M.; Burrows, H.D.; Cruz, S.M.A.; Pereira, R.F.P.; Ribeiro, A.C.F.; Lobo, V.M.M. Aggregation and Micellization of Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate in the Presence of Ce (III) at Different Temperatures: A Conductometric Study. J Colloid Interface Sci 2008, 323, 141–145.
- 76. Turanov, A.N.; Karandashev, V.K.; Boltoeva, M. Solvent Extraction of Intra-Lanthanides Using a Mixture of TBP and TODGA in Ionic Liquid. *Hydrometallurgy* **2020**, *195*, 105367.
- 77. Mishra, B.B.; Niharbala, D. Application of Bifunctional Ionic Liquids for Extraction and Separation of Eu3+ from Chloride Medium. *Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China* **2022**, *32*, 2061–2070.
- 78. Stoy, L.; Xu, J.; Kulkarni, Y.; Huang, C.-H. Ionic Liquid Recovery of Rare-Earth Elements from Coal Fly Ash: Process Efficiency and Sustainability Evaluations. *ACS Sustain Chem Eng* **2022**, *10*, 11824–11834.
- 79. Rout, A.; Kumar, S.; Ramanathan, N. Probing the Coordination of Europium (III) in a Functionalized Ionic Liquid Using Luminescence Spectroscopy. J Mol Liq 2021, 323, 115109.
- Khanmohammadi, H.; Wijanarko, W.; Cruz, S.; Evaristo, M.; Espallargas, N. Triboelectrochemical Friction Control of W- and Ag-Doped DLC Coatings in Water-Glycol with Ionic Liquids as Lubricant Additives. *RSC Adv* 2022, *12*, 3573–3583, doi:10.1039/d1ra08814a.
- Yan, M.; Wang, X.; Zhang, S.; Zhang, S.; Sui, X.; Li, W.; Hao, J.; Liu, W. Friction and Wear Properties of GLC and DLC Coatings under Ionic Liquid Lubrication. *Tribol Int* **2020**, *143*, 106067, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.triboint.2019.106067.
- 82. Pinkus, O.; Wilcock, D.F. *Strategy for Energy Conservation through Tribology*; United States, 1977;

- 83. Kubota, M. Report by the Committee on Tribology Standardization. *Tokyo:* Association of Machinery Industry of Japan **1982**.
- Molgaard, J. Economic Losses Due to Friction and Wear—Research and Development Strategies. In Proceedings of the A Workshop Report, National Research Council Canada, Associate Committee on Tribology; 1984; Vol. 153.
- 85. What Is the Kyoto Protocol? | UNFCCC.
- 86. The Paris Agreement | UNFCCC.
- 87. Q&A: Commission Proposal on the New Euro 7 Standards.
- 88. Spikes, H. The History and Mechanisms of ZDDP. *Tribol Lett* **2004**, *17*, 469–489, doi:10.1023/B:TRIL.0000044495.26882.b5.
- 89. Safe Handling Guidelines for ZDDP Components and Blends, Copywrite © 2015 American Chemistry Council, 700 2nd Street NE · Washington, DC 20002;
- Zhou, Y.; Weber, J.; Viola, M.B.; Qu, J. Is More Always Better? Tribofilm Evolution and Tribological Behavior Impacted by the Concentration of ZDDP, Ionic Liquid, and ZDDP-Ionic Liquid Combination. *Wear* 2019, 432– 433, 202951, doi:10.1016/j.wear.2019.202951.
- 91. Tuomas, R.; Isaksson, O. The Effect of Phosphate Additives on the Lubrication of Rolling Element Bearings in a Refrigerant Environment. International Journal of Refrigeration 2007, 30, 28–36, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrefrig.2006.03.015.
- 92. Somers, A.E.; Yunis, R.; Armand, M.B.; Pringle, J.M.; MacFarlane, D.R.; Forsyth, M. Towards Phosphorus Free Ionic Liquid Anti-Wear Lubricant Additives. *Lubricants* **2016**, *4*, doi:10.3390/lubricants4020022.
- Huai, W.; Chen, X.; Lu, F.; Zhang, C.; Ma, L.; Wen, S. Tribological Properties of Sulfur- and Phosphorus-Free Organic Molybdenum Compound as Additive in Oil. *Tribol Int* **2020**, *141*, 105944, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.triboint.2019.105944.
- 94. Johnson, D.W. The Tribology and Chemistry of Phosphorus-Containing Lubricant Additives. In *Advances in Tribology*; Darji, P.H., Ed.; IntechOpen: Rijeka, 2016.
- Ferreira, F.; Aijaz, A.; Kubart, T.; Cavaleiro, A.; Oliveira, J. Hard and Dense Diamond like Carbon Coatings Deposited by Deep Oscillations Magnetron Sputtering. *Surf Coat Technol* **2018**, *336*, 92–98, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surfcoat.2017.10.055.
- Ferreira, F.; Serra, R.; Cavaleiro, A.; Oliveira, J. Diamond-like Carbon Coatings Deposited by Deep Oscillation Magnetron Sputtering in Ar-Ne Discharges. *Diam Relat Mater* **2019**, *98*, 107521, doi:10.1016/j.diamond.2019.107521.

- Rübig, B.; Heim, D.; Forsich, C.; Dipolt, C.; Mueller, T.; Gebeshuber, A.; Kullmer, R.; Holecek, R.; Lugmair, C.; Krawinkler, M.; et al. Tribological Behavior of Thick DLC Coatings under Lubricated Conditions. *Surf Coat Technol* 2017, *314*, 13–17, doi:10.1016/j.surfcoat.2016.09.055.
- 98. Evaristo, M.; Fernandes, F.; Cavaleiro, A. Room and High Temperature Tribological Behaviour of W-DLC Coatings Produced by DCMS and Hybrid DCMS-HiPIMS Configuration. *Coatings* 2020, *10*.
- 99. Michelmore, A.; Griesser, H.J. Thin Film Coatings for Biomaterials and Biomedical Applications. *Sawston, UK: Woodhead Publishing* **2016**, 29–47.
- 100. Kim, H.-S.; Oh, S.-S.; Ha, H.-S.; Youm, D.; Moon, S.-H.; Kim, J.H.; Dou, S.X.; Heo, Y.-U.; Wee, S.-H.; Goyal, A. Ultra-High Performance, High-Temperature Superconducting Wires via Cost-Effective, Scalable, Co-Evaporation Process. *Sci Rep* **2014**, *4*, 4744.
- 101. Yu, J.-Y.; Chung, S.-W.; Heath, J.R. Silicon Nanowires: Preparation, Device Fabrication, and Transport Properties. *J Phys Chem B* **2000**, *104*, 11864–11870.
- 102. Cui, Z.; Rothman, J.; Klaui, M.; Lopez-Diaz, L.; Vaz, C.A.F.; Bland, J.A.C. Fabrication of Magnetic Rings for High Density Memory Devices. *Microelectron Eng* **2002**, *61*, 577–583.
- 103. Martinu, L.; Poitras, D. Plasma Deposition of Optical Films and Coatings: A Review. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films* **2000**, *18*, 2619–2645.
- 104. Donohue, L.A.; Münz, W.-D.; Lewis, D.B.; Cawley, J.; Hurkmans, T.; Trinh, T.; Petrov, I.; Greene, I.E. Large-Scale Fabrication of Hard Superlattice Thin Films by Combined Steered Arc Evaporation and Unbalanced Magnetron Sputtering. *Surf Coat Technol* **1997**, *93*, 69–87.
- 105. Al Mahmud, K.A.H.; Kalam, M.A.; Masjuki, H.H.; Mobarak, H.M.; Zulkifli, N.W.M. An Updated Overview of Diamond-like Carbon Coating in Tribology. *Critical reviews in solid state and materials sciences* **2015**, *40*, 90–118.
- 106. Equey, S.; Roos, S.; Mueller, U.; Hauert, R.; Spencer, N.D.; Crockett, R. Tribofilm Formation from ZnDTP on Diamond-like Carbon. *Wear* **2008**, *264*, 316–321.
- 107. Podgornik, B.; Jacobson, S.; Hogmark, S. DLC Coating of Boundary Lubricated Components—Advantages of Coating One of the Contact Surfaces Rather than Both or None. *Tribol Int* **2003**, *36*, 843–849.
- 108. Keunecke, M.; Bewilogua, K.; Becker, J.; Gies, A.; Grischke, M. CrC/AC: H Coatings for Highly Loaded, Low Friction Applications under Formulated Oil Lubrication. Surf Coat Technol 2012, 207, 270–278.

- 109. Mistry, K.K.; Morina, A.; Neville, A. A Tribochemical Evaluation of a WC– DLC Coating in EP Lubrication Conditions. *Wear* **2011**, *271*, 1739–1744.
- 110. Kržan, B.; Novotny-Farkas, F.; Vižintin, J. Tribological Behavior of Tungsten-Doped DLC Coating under Oil Lubrication. *Tribol Int* **2009**, *42*, 229–235.
- 111. Kalin, M.; Roman, E.; Ožbolt, L.; Vižintin, J. Metal-Doped (Ti, WC) Diamondlike-Carbon Coatings: Reactions with Extreme-Pressure Oil Additives under Tribological and Static Conditions. *Thin Solid Films* **2010**, *518*, 4336–4344.
- 112. Grill, A. Wear Resistant Fluorinated Diamondlike Carbon Films. *Diamond Films and Technology.* **1996**, *6*, 13.
- 113. Donnet, C.; Erdemir, A. *Tribology of Diamond-like Carbon Films: Fundamentals and Applications*; Springer Science & Business Media, 2007; ISBN 0387498915.
- 114. Sánchez-López, J.C.; Fernández, A. Doping and Alloying Effects on DLC Coatings; 2008;
- 115. MISHRA, B.B.; DEVI, N. Application of Bifunctional Ionic Liquids for Extraction and Separation of Eu3+ from Chloride Medium. *Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China (English Edition)* **2022**, *32*, 2061–2070, doi:10.1016/S1003-6326(22)65930-2.
- 116. Fox, N.J.; Stachowiak, G.W. Vegetable Oil-Based Lubricants—A Review of Oxidation. *Tribol Int* **2007**, *40*, 1035–1046, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.triboint.2006.10.001.
- 117. Katiyar, J.K.; Ul Haq, M.I.; Raina, A.; Jayalakshmi, S.; Singh, R.A. *Tribology* and *Sustainability*; CRC Press, 2021;
- 118. Zulkifli, N.W.M.; Kalam, M.A.; Masjuki, H.H.; Shahabuddin, M.; Yunus, R. Wear Prevention Characteristics of a Palm Oil-Based TMP (Trimethylolpropane) Ester as an Engine Lubricant. *Energy* 2013, 54, 167– 173.
- 119. Woodyard, D. *Pounder's Marine Diesel Engines and Gas Turbines*; Butterworth-Heinemann, 2009; ISBN 0080943616.
- 120. Available from: Https://Www.Dupont.Com/Molykote/Polyalphaolefin-Pao.Html#:~:Text=Polyalphaolefin%20(PAO)%20fluids%20are%20the,And %20typically%20are%20less%20volatile. .
- 121. Available from: Https://Krahn-Uk.Com/Products/Petsyn-Pao-8/.
- 122. Available from: Https://Chemceed.Com/Products/Polyalphaolefin-8-Pao-8/.
- 123. Berthod, A.; Ruiz-Angel, M.J.; Carda-Broch, S. Recent Advances on Ionic Liquid Uses in Separation Techniques. *J Chromatogr A* **2018**, *1559*, 2–16.
- 124. Welton, T. Ionic Liquids: A Brief History. *Biophys Rev* 2018, 10, 691–706.
- 125. Welton, T. Room-Temperature Ionic Liquids. Solvents for Synthesis and Catalysis. *Chem Rev* **1999**, *99*, 2071–2084.

- Feng, R.; Zhao, D.; Guo, Y. Revisiting Characteristics of Ionic Liquids: A Review for Further Application Development. *J Environ Prot (Irvine, Calif)* 2010, 1, 95.
- 127. Gan, C.; Liang, T.; Chen, D.; Li, W.; Fan, X.; Tang, G.; Lin, B.; Zhu, M. Phosphonium-Organophosphate Modified Graphene Gel towards Lubrication Applications. *Tribol Int* **2020**, *145*, 106180, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.triboint.2020.106180.
- 128. Carrion, F.J.; Sanes, J.; Bermudez, M.D. Effect of Ionic Liquid on the Structure and Tribological Properties of Polycarbonate–Zinc Oxide Nanodispersion. *Mater Lett* **2007**, *61*, 4531–4535.
- 129. Nooruddin, N.S.; Wahlbeck, P.G.; Carper, W.R. Molecular Modeling of Ionic Liquid Tribology: Semi-Empirical Bonding and Molecular Structure. *Journal* of Molecular Structure: Theochem **2007**, 822, 1–7.
- Jiménez, A.E.; Bermúdez, M.D.; Iglesias, P.; Carrión, F.J.; Martínez-Nicolás, G. 1-N-Alkyl-3-Methylimidazolium Ionic Liquids as Neat Lubricants and Lubricant Additives in Steel–Aluminium Contacts. *Wear* 2006, 260, 766– 782.
- Xia, Y.; Sasaki, S.; Murakami, T.; Nakano, M.; Shi, L.; Wang, H. Ionic Liquid Lubrication of Electrodeposited Nickel–Si3N4 Composite Coatings. *Wear* 2007, 262, 765–771.
- 132. Xia, Y.; Wang, S.; Zhou, F.; Wang, H.; Lin, Y.; Xu, T. Tribological Properties of Plasma Nitrided Stainless Steel against SAE52100 Steel under Ionic Liquid Lubrication Condition. *Tribol Int* **2006**, *39*, 635–640.
- 133. Qu, J.; Truhan, J.J.; Dai, S.; Luo, H.; Blau, P.J. Ionic Liquids with Ammonium Cations as Lubricants or Additives. *Tribol Lett* **2006**, *22*, 207–214.
- 134. Mu, Z.; Liu, W.; Zhang, S.; Zhou, F. Functional Room-Temperature Ionic Liquids as Lubricants for an Aluminum-on-Steel System. *Chem Lett* **2004**, *33*, 524–525.
- 135. Liu, X.; Zhou, F.; Liang, Y.; Liu, W. Benzotriazole as the Additive for Ionic Liquid Lubricant: One Pathway towards Actual Application of Ionic Liquids. *Tribol Lett* **2006**, *23*, 191–196.
- 136. Xia, Y.; Wang, L.; Liu, X.; Qiao, Y. A Comparative Study on the Tribological Behavior of Nanocrystalline Nickel and Coarse-Grained Nickel Coatings under Ionic Liquid Lubrication. *Tribol Lett* **2008**, *30*, 151–157, doi:10.1007/s11249-008-9322-5.
- 137. Wang, H.; Lu, Q.; Ye, C.; Liu, W.; Cui, Z. Friction and Wear Behaviors of Ionic Liquid of Alkylimidazolium Hexafluorophosphates as Lubricants for Steel/Steel Contact. *Wear* **2004**, *256*, 44–48.
- 138. Liu, X.; Zhou, F.; Liang, Y.; Liu, W. Tribological Performance of Phosphonium Based Ionic Liquids for an Aluminum-on-Steel System and

Opinions on Lubrication Mechanism. *Wear* **2006**, *261*, 1174–1179, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wear.2006.03.018.

- 139. Kamimura, H.; Kubo, T.; Minami, I.; Mori, S. Effect and Mechanism of Additives for Ionic Liquids as New Lubricants. *Tribol Int* **2007**, *40*, 620–625.
- 140. Mu, Z.; Zhou, F.; Zhang, S.; Liang, Y.; Liu, W. Effect of the Functional Groups in Ionic Liquid Molecules on the Friction and Wear Behavior of Aluminum Alloy in Lubricated Aluminum-on-Steel Contact. *Tribol Int* 2005, *38*, 725– 731.
- 141. Mu, Z.G.; Liang, Y.M.; Zhang, S.X. Phosphonate Functional Group Containing Ionic Liquid Steel/Aluminium Friction Lubrication of the Role of Research. *Tribol J* **2004**, *24*, 294–298.
- 142. Xia, Y.; Wang, L.; Liu, X.; Qiao, Y. Tribological Properties of Phosphor Bronze and Nanocrystalline Nickel Coatings under PAO+ MoDTC and Ionic Liquid Lubricated Condition. *Tribol Lett* **2008**, *31*, 149–158.
- 143. Minami, I.; Hirao, K.; Memita, M.; Mori, S. Investigation of Anti-Wear Additives for Low Viscous Synthetic Esters: Hydroxyalkyl Phosphonates. *Tribol Int* **2007**, *40*, 626–631.
- 144. Fernandez-Torres, L.C.; Zhao, X.; Chen, Z.; Salmeron, C.; Perry, S.S. Influence of Ethyl Acetate and Alkyl Phosphate Adsorption on the Frictional Properties of VC (100). *Tribol Lett* **2005**, *18*, 207–213.
- 145. Bertrand, P.A. Effects of Aryl Phosphate Ester Lubricant Additives on Crack Growth in Soda-Lime Glass. *Tribol Lett* **2004**, *16*, 201–205.
- 146. Minami, I. Development of Novel Lubricity Additives: Hydroxyalkyl Ester of Ortho-Phenylene Phosphate. *Tribol Lett* **1995**, *1*, 139–146.
- 147. Najman, M.N.; Kasrai, M.; Bancroft, G.M. Chemistry of Antiwear Films from Ashless Thiophosphate Oil Additives. *Tribol Lett* **2004**, *17*, 217–229.
- 148. Adhvaryu, Aesz.; Erhan, S.Z.; Perez, J.M. Tribological Studies of Thermally and Chemically Modified Vegetable Oils for Use as Environmentally Friendly Lubricants. *Wear* **2004**, *257*, 359–367.
- 149. Xia, Y.; Liu, W.; Xue, Q. Tribological Properties of P-and N-containing Organic Compounds as Potential Extreme-pressure and Antiwear Additives. *Lubrication Science* **2003**, *15*, 173–183.
- 150. Wang, L.; Wood, R.J.K. The Influence of Contact Conditions on Surface Reaction Layers Formed between Steel Surfaces Lubricated by an Aviation Oil. *Tribol Int* **2007**, *40*, 1655–1666.
- 151. Husnawan, M.; Saifullah, M.G.; Masjuki, H.H. Development of Friction Force Model for Mineral Oil Basestock Containing Palm Olein and Antiwear Additive. *Tribol Int* **2007**, *40*, 74–81.

- 152. Zhang, L.; Feng, D.; Xu, B. Tribological Characteristics of Alkylimidazolium Diethyl Phosphates Ionic Liquids as Lubricants for Steel–Steel Contact. *Tribol Lett* **2009**, *34*, 95–101.
- 153. Amiril, S.A.S.; Rahim, E.A.; Syahrullail, S. A Review on Ionic Liquids as Sustainable Lubricants in Manufacturing and Engineering: Recent Research, Performance, and Applications. J Clean Prod 2017, 168, 1571– 1589, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.197.
- 154. Banerjee, C.; Mandal, S.; Ghosh, S.; Kuchlyan, J.; Kundu, N.; Sarkar, N. Unique Characteristics of Ionic Liquids Comprised of Long-Chain Cations and Anions: A New Physical Insight. *J Phys Chem B* **2013**, *117*, 3927–3934, doi:10.1021/jp4015405.
- 155. Barnhill, W.C.; Qu, J.; Luo, H.; Meyer, H.M.I.I.I.; Ma, C.; Chi, M.; Papke, B.L. Phosphonium-Organophosphate Ionic Liquids as Lubricant Additives: Effects of Cation Structure on Physicochemical and Tribological Characteristics. *ACS Appl Mater Interfaces* **2014**, *6*, 22585–22593, doi:10.1021/am506702u.
- 156. Fernandes, A.M.; Rocha, M.A.A.; Freire, M.G.; Marrucho, I.M.; Coutinho, J.A.P.; Santos, L.M.N.B.F. Evaluation of Cation–Anion Interaction Strength in Ionic Liquids. *J Phys Chem B* 2011, 115, 4033–4041, doi:10.1021/jp201084x.
- 157. Yu, B.; Bansal, D.G.; Qu, J.; Sun, X.; Luo, H.; Dai, S.; Blau, P.J.; Bunting, B.G.; Mordukhovich, G.; Smolenski, D.J. Oil-Miscible and Non-Corrosive Phosphonium-Based Ionic Liquids as Candidate Lubricant Additives. *Wear* 2012, 289, 58–64.
- 158. Liaw, H.-J.; Chen, C.-C.; Chen, Y.-C.; Chen, J.-R.; Huang, S.-K.; Liu, S.-N. Relationship between Flash Point of Ionic Liquids and Their Thermal Decomposition. *Green Chemistry* **2012**, *14*, 2001–2008.
- 159. Cao, Y.; Mu, T. Comprehensive Investigation on the Thermal Stability of 66 Ionic Liquids by Thermogravimetric Analysis. *Ind Eng Chem Res* **2014**, *53*, 8651–8664.
- 160. Predel, T.; Pohrer, B.; Schlücker, E. Ionic Liquids as Alternative Lubricants for Special Applications. *Chem Eng Technol* **2010**, *33*, 132–136, doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ceat.200900325.
- 161. Uerdingen, M.; Treber, C.; Balser, M.; Schmitt, G.; Werner, C. Corrosion Behaviour of Ionic Liquids. *Green Chemistry* **2005**, *7*, 321–325, doi:10.1039/B419320M.
- 162. Zunita, M.; Kevin, Y.J. Ionic Liquids as Corrosion Inhibitor: From Research and Development to Commercialization. *Results in Engineering* 2022, 15, 100562, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rineng.2022.100562.

- Akintola, S.A.; Oki, M.; Aleem, A.A.; Adediran, A.A.; Akpor, O.B.; Oluba, O.M.; Ogunsemi, B.T.; Ikubanni, P.P. Valorized Chicken Feather as Corrosion Inhibitor for Mild Steel in Drilling Mud. *Results in Engineering* 2019, *4*, 100026, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rineng.2019.100026.
- 164. Ayoola, A.A.; Babalola, R.; Durodola, B.M.; Alagbe, E.E.; Agboola, O.; Adegbile, E.O. Corrosion Inhibition of A36 Mild Steel in 0.5 M Acid Medium Using Waste Citrus Limonum Peels. *Results in Engineering* **2022**, *15*, 100490, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rineng.2022.100490.
- 165. Hossain, N.; Chowdhury, M.A.; Rana, M.; Hassan, M.; Islam, S. Terminalia Arjuna Leaves Extract as Green Corrosion Inhibitor for Mild Steel in HCl Solution. *Results in Engineering* **2022**, *14*, 100438, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rineng.2022.100438.
- 166. Díaz-Jiménez, V.; Arellanes-Lozada, P.; Likhanova, N. v; Olivares-Xometl, O.; Chigo-Anota, E.; Lijanova, I. v; Gómez-Sánchez, G.; Verpoort, F. Investigation of Sulfonium-Iodide-Based Ionic Liquids to Inhibit Corrosion of API 5L X52 Steel in Different Flow Regimes in Acid Medium. ACS Omega 2022, 7, 42975–42993, doi:10.1021/acsomega.2c05192.
- 167. Moustafa, A.A.; Abdelbasir, S.M.; Ashmawy, A.M.; Ghayad, I.M.; El-Zomrawy, A.A. A Novel Ionic Liquid for Improvement of Lead-Acid Battery Performance and Protection of Its Electrodes against Corrosion. *Mater Chem Phys* **2022**, *292*, 126764, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2022.126764.
- 168. Bart, J.C.J.; Gucciardi, E.; Cavallaro, S. Advanced Lubricant Fluids. *Biolubricants: science and technology* **2013**, 824–846.
- Tokuda, H.; Hayamizu, K.; Ishii, K.; Susan, M.A.B.H.; Watanabe, M. Physicochemical Properties and Structures of Room Temperature Ionic Liquids. 1. Variation of Anionic Species. J Phys Chem B 2004, 108, 16593– 16600.
- 170. Sunda, A.P.; Mondal, A.; Balasubramanian, S. Atomistic Simulations of Ammonium-Based Protic Ionic Liquids: Steric Effects on Structure, Low Frequency Vibrational Modes and Electrical Conductivity. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2015**, *17*, 4625–4633.
- 171. Reddy, T.D.N.; Mallik, B.S. Protic Ammonium Carboxylate Ionic Liquids: Insight into Structure, Dynamics and Thermophysical Properties by Alkyl Group Functionalization. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2017**, *19*, 10358–10370.
- 172. Hansen, J.-P.; McDonald, I.R. *Theory of Simple Liquids: With Applications to Soft Matter*; Academic press, 2013; ISBN 012387033X.
- 173. Gómez, E.; Calvar, N.; Domínguez, Á. Thermal Behaviour of Pure Ionic Liquids. *Ionic Liquids-Current State of the Art* **2015**, *20*, 199.

- 174. Ge, R.; Hardacre, C.; Jacquemin, J.; Rooney, D.W. Thermophysical Properties of Ionic Liquids. **2009**.
- 175. King, N.; Keranen, L.; Gunter, K.; Sutherland, J. *Wet versus Dry Turning: A Comparison of Machining Costs, Product Quality, and Aerosol Formation*; SAE Technical Paper, 2001;
- 176. Available from: Https://Www.Stle.Org/Files/About\_STLE/Tribology/Files/What\_is\_tribolo gy/Tribology.Aspx.
- 177. Yen, B.K. Influence of Water Vapor and Oxygen on the Tribology of Carbon Materials with Sp2 Valence Configuration. *Wear* **1996**, *192*, 208–215.
- 178. Grill, A. Tribology of Diamondlike Carbon and Related Materials: An Updated Review. *Surf Coat Technol* **1997**, *94–95*, 507–513, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0257-8972(97)00458-1.
- 179. Arshad, M.S.; Čoga, L.; Geue, T.; Kovač, J.; Cruz, S.M.A.; Kalin, M. The W-Cluster Reactive Sites Interaction Model for WDLC Coatings with Ionic Liquids. *Tribol Int* **2023**, *185*, 108550, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.triboint.2023.108550.
- Arshad, M.S.; Kovač, J.; Cruz, S.; Kalin, M. Physicochemical and Tribological Characterizations of WDLC Coatings and Ionic-Liquid Lubricant Additives: Potential Candidates for Low Friction under Boundary-Lubrication Conditions. *Tribol Int* **2020**, *151*, 106482, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.triboint.2020.106482.
- 181. Milewski, K.; Madej, M.; Kowalczyk, J.; Ozimina, D. The Influence of Silicon-Doped Diamond-Like Carbon Coating on the Wear of Ionic Liquid Lubricated Friction Pairs. *Tribologia* **2018**.
- 182. Feng, X.; Xia, Y. Tribological Properties of Ti-Doped DLC Coatings under Ionic Liquids Lubricated Conditions. *Appl Surf Sci* 2012, 258, 2433–2438, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2011.10.066.
- 183. Borisenko, K.B.; Evangelou, E.A.; Zhao, Q.; Abel, E.W. Contact Angles of Diiodomethane on Silicon-Doped Diamond-like Carbon Coatings in Electrolyte Solutions. J Colloid Interface Sci 2008, 326, 329–332, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2008.06.045.
- 184. García, A.; González, R.; Hernández Battez, A.; Viesca, J.L.; Monge, R.; Fernández-González, A.; Hadfield, M. Ionic Liquids as a Neat Lubricant Applied to Steel–Steel Contacts. *Tribol Int* 2014, 72, 42–50, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.triboint.2013.12.007.
- 185. Omotowa, B.A.; Phillips, B.S.; Zabinski, J.S.; Shreeve, J.M. Phosphazene-Based Ionic Liquids: Synthesis, Temperature-Dependent Viscosity, and Effect as Additives in Water Lubrication of Silicon Nitride Ceramics. *Inorg Chem* 2004, 43, 5466–5471.

- 186. Barnhill, W.C.; Qu, J.; Luo, H.; Meyer III, H.M.; Ma, C.; Chi, M.; Papke, B.L. Phosphonium-Organophosphate Ionic Liquids as Lubricant Additives: Effects of Cation Structure on Physicochemical and Tribological Characteristics. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2014, 6, 22585–22593.
- 187. Lynden-Bell, R.M.; Atamas, N.A.; Vasilyuk, A.; Hanke, C.G. Chemical Potentials of Water and Organic Solutes in Imidazolium Ionic Liquids: A Simulation Study. *Mol Phys* **2002**, *100*, 3225–3229.
- 188. Minami, I. Ionic Liquids in Tribology. *Molecules* **2009**, *14*, 2286–2305.
- 189. Guo, Y.; Qiao, D.; Han, Y.; Zhang, L.; Feng, D.; Shi, L. Application of Alkylphosphate Ionic Liquids as Lubricants for Ceramic Material. *Ind Eng Chem Res* **2015**, *54*, 12813–12825.
- 190. Qu, J.; Luo, H. Ionic Liquids Containing Symmetric Quaternary Phosphonium Cations and Phosphorus-Containing Anions, and Their Use as Lubricant Additives; Oak Ridge National Lab.(ORNL), Oak Ridge, TN (United States), 2018;
- 191. Jin, C.-M.; Ye, C.; Phillips, B.S.; Zabinski, J.S.; Liu, X.; Liu, W.; Jean'ne, M.S. Polyethylene Glycol Functionalized Dicationic Ionic Liquids with Alkyl or Polyfluoroalkyl Substituents as High Temperature Lubricants. J Mater Chem 2006, 16, 1529–1535.
- 192. Palacio, M.; Bhushan, B. A Review of Ionic Liquids for Green Molecular Lubrication in Nanotechnology. *Tribol Lett* **2010**, *40*, 247–268.
- 193. Wang, B.; Zhang, L.; Wang, N.; Duan, W.; Tang, W. Tribological Properties of a Series of Carbon Dots Modified by Ionic Liquids with Various Anion Species: Experimental Findings and Density Functional Theory Calculations. *Dalton Transactions* **2021**, *50*, 9185–9197.
- 194. Han, M.; Espinosa-Marzal, R.M. Influence of Water on Structure, Dynamics, and Electrostatics of Hydrophilic and Hydrophobic Ionic Liquids in Charged and Hydrophilic Confinement between Mica Surfaces. *ACS Appl Mater Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 33465–33477, doi:10.1021/acsami.9b10923.
- 195. Grill, A. Tribology of Diamondlike Carbon and Related Materials: An Updated Review. *Surf Coat Technol* **1997**, *94*, 507–513.
- 196. Dašić, M.; Stanković, I.; Gkagkas, K. Influence of Confinement on Flow and Lubrication Properties of a Salt Model Ionic Liquid Investigated with Molecular Dynamics. *The European Physical Journal E* **2018**, *41*, 1–12.
- Khatri, P.K.; Aathira, M.S.; Thakre, G.D.; Jain, S.L. Synthesis and Tribological Behavior of Fatty Acid Constituted Tetramethylguanidinium (TMG) Ionic Liquids for a Steel/Steel Contact. *Materials Science and Engineering: C* 2018, *91*, 208–217.

- 198. An, R.; Zhou, G.; Zhu, Y.; Zhu, W.; Huang, L.; Shah, F.U. Friction of Ionic Liquid–Glycol Ether Mixtures at Titanium Interfaces: Negative Load Dependence. *Adv Mater Interfaces* **2018**, *5*, 1800263.
- 199. Gong, X.; Li, L. Nanometer-Thick Ionic Liquids as Boundary Lubricants. *Adv Eng Mater* **2018**, *20*, 1700617.
- 200. Han, M.; Espinosa-Marzal, R.M. Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Lubrication by Ionic Liquids: Activated Slip and Flow. *Lubricants* **2018**, *6*, 64.
- 201. Lhermerout, R.; Diederichs, C.; Perkin, S. Are Ionic Liquids Good Boundary Lubricants? A Molecular Perspective. *Lubricants* **2018**, *6*, 9.
- 202. Jiang, C.; Li, W.; Nian, J.; Lou, W.; Wang, X. Tribological Evaluation of Environmentally Friendly Ionic Liquids Derived from Renewable Biomaterials. *Friction* 2018, 6, 208–218.
- 203. Ge, X.; Li, J.; Zhang, C.; Liu, Y.; Luo, J. Superlubricity and Antiwear Properties of in Situ-Formed Ionic Liquids at Ceramic Interfaces Induced by Tribochemical Reactions. *ACS Appl Mater Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 6568–6574.
- 204. Amann, T.; Gatti, F.; Oberle, N.; Kailer, A.; Rühe, J. Galvanically Induced Potentials to Enable Minimal Tribochemical Wear of Stainless Steel Lubricated with Sodium Chloride and Ionic Liquid Aqueous Solution. *Friction* **2018**, *6*, 230–242.
- 205. Zheng, D.; Wang, X.; Zhang, M.; Liu, Z.; Ju, C. Anticorrosion and Lubricating Properties of a Fully Green Lubricant. *Tribol Int* **2019**, *130*, 324–333.
- 206. Li, W.; Kumara, C.; Meyer III, H.M.; Luo, H.; Qu, J. Compatibility between Various Ionic Liquids and an Organic Friction Modifier as Lubricant Additives. *Langmuir* **2018**, *34*, 10711–10720.
- Zeng, Z.; Phillips, B.S.; Xiao, J.-C.; Shreeve, J.M. Polyfluoroalkyl, Polyethylene Glycol, 1, 4-Bismethylenebenzene, or 1, 4-Bismethylene-2, 3, 5, 6-Tetrafluorobenzene Bridged Functionalized Dicationic Ionic Liquids: Synthesis and Properties as High Temperature Lubricants. *Chemistry of Materials* 2008, 20, 2719–2726.
- 208. Somers, A.E.; Khemchandani, B.; Howlett, P.C.; Sun, J.; MacFarlane, D.R.; Forsyth, M. Ionic Liquids as Antiwear Additives in Base Oils: Influence of Structure on Miscibility and Antiwear Performance for Steel on Aluminum. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2013, 5, 11544–11553.
- 209. Hamrock, B.J.; Dowson, D. Ball Bearing Lubrication: The Elastohydrodynamics of Elliptical Contacts. **1981**.
- 210. Hamrock, B.J.; Dowson, D. Isothermal Elastohydrodynamic Lubrication of Point Contacts: Part III—Fully Flooded Results. **1977**.
- 211. Stachowiak, G.W.; Batchelor, A.W. *Engineering Tribology*; Butterworthheinemann, 2013; ISBN 0123977762.

- 212. Tallian, T.E. On Competing Failure Modes in Rolling Contact. *ASLE transactions* **1967**, *10*, 418–439.
- 213. Balan, M.R.; Tufescu, A.; Cretu, S.S. A Case Study on Relation between Roughness, Lubrication and Fatigue Life of Rolling Bearings. In Proceedings of the IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering; IOP Publishing, 2016; Vol. 147, p. 012013.
- 214. Harris, T.A.; Kotzalas, M.N. *Essential Concepts of Bearing Technology*; CRC press, 2006; ISBN 1420006592.
- 215. Bociąga, D.; Jakubowski, W.; Komorowski, P.; Sobczyk-Guzenda, A.; Jędrzejczak, A.; Batory, D.; Olejnik, A. Surface Characterization and Biological Evaluation of Silver-Incorporated DLC Coatings Fabricated by Hybrid RF PACVD/MS Method. *Materials Science and Engineering: C* **2016**, *63*, 462–474.
- 216. Najam-ul-Haq, M.; Rainer, M.; Huck, C.W.; Ashiq, M.N.; Bonn, G.K. Chemically Modified Diamond-like Carbon (DLC) for Protein Enrichment and Profiling by MALDI-MS. *Amino Acids* **2012**, *43*, 823–831.
- 217. Chen, Z.; Ren, X.; Ren, L.; Wang, T.; Qi, X.; Yang, Y. Improving the Tribological Properties of Spark-Anodized Titanium by Magnetron Sputtered Diamond-like Carbon. *Coatings* **2018**, *8*, 83.
- 218. Ze, S.; Dejun, K. Effect of Load on the Friction-Wear Behavior of Magnetron Sputtered DLC Film at High Temperature. *Mater Res Express* **2017**, *4*, 016404.
- 219. Ghosh, S.; Choudhury, D.; Roy, T.; Mamat, A. Bin; Masjuki, H.H.; Pingguan-Murphy, B. Tribological Investigation of Diamond-like Carbon Coated Micro-Dimpled Surface under Bovine Serum and Osteoarthritis Oriented Synovial Fluid. *Sci Technol Adv Mater* **2015**.
- 220. Hatem, A.; Lin, J.; Wei, R.; Torres, R.D.; Laurindo, C.; Soares, P. Tribocorrosion Behavior of DLC-Coated Ti-6AI-4V Alloy Deposited by PIID and PEMS+ PIID Techniques for Biomedical Applications. *Surf Coat Technol* 2017, 332, 223–232.
- 221. Sharifahmadian, O.; Mahboubi, F.; Oskouie, A. Structural Evolution and Tribological Behavior of Nitrogen-Doped DLC Coatings Deposited by Pulsed DC PACVD Method. *Diam Relat Mater* **2019**, *91*, 74–83.
- 222. Lin, J.; Zhang, X.; Lee, P.; Wei, R. Thick Diamond like Carbon Coatings Deposited by Deep Oscillation Magnetron Sputtering. *Surf Coat Technol* **2017**, *315*, 294–302.
- 223. Mu, L.; Wu, J.; Matsakas, L.; Chen, M.; Vahidi, A.; Grahn, M.; Rova, U.; Christakopoulos, P.; Zhu, J.; Shi, Y. Lignin from Hardwood and Softwood Biomass as a Lubricating Additive to Ethylene Glycol. *Molecules* 2018, 23, 537.

- 224. Song, J. Research Progress of Ionic Liquids as Lubricants. ACS Omega **2021**, *6*, 29345–29349.
- 225. Yoshida, Y.; Baba, O.; Saito, G. Ionic Liquids Based on Dicyanamide Anion: Influence of Structural Variations in Cationic Structures on Ionic Conductivity. *J Phys Chem B* **2007**, *111*, 4742–4749.
- 226. Clarke, C.J.; Bui-Le, L.; Hallett, J.P.; Licence, P. Thermally-Stable Imidazolium Dicationic Ionic Liquids with Pyridine Functional Groups. *ACS Sustain Chem Eng* **2020**, *8*, 8762–8772.
- 227. Zorębski, E.; Musiał, M.; Dzida, M. Relation between Temperature– Pressure Dependence of Internal Pressure and Intermolecular Interactions in Ionic Liquids–Comparison with Molecular Liquids. *J Chem Thermodyn* 2019, 131, 347–359.
- 228. Ding, J.C.; Chen, M.; Mei, H.; Jeong, S.; Zheng, J.; Yang, Y.; Wang, Q.; Kim, K.H. Microstructure, Mechanical, and Wettability Properties of Al-Doped Diamond-like Films Deposited Using a Hybrid Deposition Technique: Bias Voltage Effects. *Diam Relat Mater* **2022**, *123*, 108861.
- 229. Evaristo, M.; Fernandes, F.; Cavaleiro, A. Room and High Temperature Tribological Behaviour of W-DLC Coatings Produced by DCMS and Hybrid DCMS-HiPIMS Configuration. *Coatings* **2020**, *10*, 319.
- Kasiorowski, T.; Lin, J.; Soares, P.; Lepienski, C.M.; Neitzke, C.A.; De Souza, G.B.; Torres, R.D. Microstructural and Tribological Characterization of DLC Coatings Deposited by Plasma Enhanced Techniques on Steel Substrates. *Surf Coat Technol* 2020, 389, 125615.
- 231. Aijaz, A.; Ferreira, F.; Oliveira, J.; Kubart, T. Mechanical Properties of Hydrogen Free Diamond-like Carbon Thin Films Deposited by High Power Impulse Magnetron Sputtering with Ne. *Coatings* **2018**, *8*, 385.
- 232. Yetim, A.F.; Kovacı, H.; Kasapoğlu, A.E.; Bozkurt, Y.B.; Çelik, A. Influences of Ti, Al and V Metal Doping on the Structural, Mechanical and Tribological Properties of DLC Films. *Diam Relat Mater* **2021**, *120*, 108639.
- 233. Bai, M.; Yang, L.; Li, J.; Luo, L.; Sun, S.; Inkson, B. Mechanical and Tribological Properties of Si and W Doped Diamond like Carbon (DLC) under Dry Reciprocating Sliding Conditions. *Wear* **2021**, *484*, 204046.
- 234. Wang, Q.J.; Chung, Y.-W. *Encyclopedia of Tribology: With 3650 Figures and 493 Tables*; Springer, 2013; ISBN 0387928979.
- 235. Marinescu, I.D.; Rowe, W.B.; Dimitrov, B.; Inaski, I. *Tribology of Abrasive Machining Processes*; Elsevier, 2004; ISBN 0815519389.
- 236. Li, P.; Zhang, F.; Zhang, H.; Wang, T.; Wang, Q.; Qiao, W. Lubrication Performance of Kite-Shaped Microtexture under Hydrodynamic Lubrication. *Tribol Int* **2023**, *179*, 108144.

- 237. Kalin, M.; Velkavrh, I.; Vižintin, J. The Stribeck Curve and Lubrication Design for Non-Fully Wetted Surfaces. *Wear* **2009**, *267*, 1232–1240.
- 238. Linjamaa, A.; Lehtovaara, A.; Kallio, M.; Léger, A. Running-in Effects on Friction of Journal Bearings under Slow Sliding Speeds. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part J: Journal of Engineering Tribology* **2020**, *234*, 362–372.
- 239. Xin, Q. Friction and Lubrication in Diesel Engine System Design. *Diesel Engine System Design* 2013, 651–758.
- 240. Martini, A.; Zhu, D.; Wang, Q. Friction Reduction in Mixed Lubrication. *Tribol Lett* **2007**, *28*, 139–147.
- 241. Wang, Y.; Wang, Q.J.; Lin, C.; Shi, F. Development of a Set of Stribeck Curves for Conformal Contacts of Rough Surfaces. *Tribology transactions* **2006**, *49*, 526–535.
- 242. Lu, X.; Khonsari, M.M.; Gelinck, E.R.M. The Stribeck Curve: Experimental Results and Theoretical Prediction. *J Tribol* **2006**, *128*, 789–794.
- 243. Xiao, H. Ionic Liquid Lubricants: Basics and Applications. *Tribology Transactions* **2017**, *60*, 20–30.
- 244. Kajdas, C. Importance of Anionic Reactive Intermediates for Lubricant Component Reactions with Friction Surfaces. *Lubrication Science* **1994**, *6*, 203–228.
- 245. Perkin, S.; Albrecht, T.; Klein, J. Layering and Shear Properties of an Ionic Liquid, 1-Ethyl-3-Methylimidazolium Ethylsulfate, Confined to Nano-Films between Mica Surfaces. *Physical chemistry chemical physics* **2010**, *12*, 1243–1247.
- 246. Atkin, R.; El Abedin, S.Z.; Hayes, R.; Gasparotto, L.H.S.; Borisenko, N.; Endres, F. AFM and STM Studies on the Surface Interaction of [BMP] TFSA and [EMIm] TFSA Ionic Liquids with Au (111). *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2009**, *113*, 13266–13272.
- 247. Qu, J.; Bansal, D.G.; Yu, B.; Howe, J.Y.; Luo, H.; Dai, S.; Li, H.; Blau, P.J.; Bunting, B.G.; Mordukhovich, G.; et al. Antiwear Performance and Mechanism of an Oil-Miscible Ionic Liquid as a Lubricant Additive. *ACS Appl Mater Interfaces* **2012**, *4*, 997–1002, doi:10.1021/am201646k.